
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, 
Gravesend DA12 1AU on Thursday, 24 November 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified 
in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Street Cleansing Policy  (Pages 9 - 26) 

6. Contaminated Land Strategy Review Report  (Pages 27 - 44) 

7. Alley Clearance Project Update  (Pages 45 - 52) 

8. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Operational Services  (Pages 53 - 70) 

9. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23  (Pages 71 - 80) 



10. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 

11. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in private  
 

None. 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Conrad Broadley 

Gurdip Ram Bungar 
Gary Harding 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Pearton 
Alan Ridgers 
Brian Sangha 
Frank Wardle 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



1 

Operational Services Cabinet Committee 
 

Tuesday, 7 June 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Conrad Broadley 

Sarah Gow 
Gary Harding 
Nirmal Khabra 
Leslie Pearton 
Alan Ridgers 
Brian Sangha 
Frank Wardle 

 
Stuart Alford  Assistant Director (Operations) 
Mary Bobby  Cemeteries and Allotment Manager 
James Young  Parks and Open Space Manager 
Joel Simons  Waste Projects and Compliance Officer 
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager (Minutes) 
 
 

1. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurdip Bungar and Cllr Sarah Gow attended 
as his substitute.  
 

2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 23 March 2022 were signed by the Chair.  
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made.  
   

4. Park & Open Space Update  
 
The Parks and Open Space Manager provided Members with a presentation on the 
Council’s parks and open space, please click the link below to view the presentation:- 
 
Agenda for Operational Services Cabinet Committee on Tuesday, 7 June 2022, 7.30 pm – 
Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=442&MId=5937&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=442&MId=5937&Ver=4


Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2022 

2 

The Committee thanked the Parks and Open Space Manager for an informative presentation 
and highlighted the following:- 
 

 commended the improvements made to the play parks and welcomed the sensory 
parks/gardens as they were inclusive for all particularly for children with limited 
vision, mobility etc;  

 commended the significant improvement in relation to tree planting around the 
Borough and requested that the Council investigates opportunities for local residents 
to be gifted a tree for planting at home and/or a discounted tree purchase scheme; 

 acknowledged the importance of biodiversity and that the Council should continue to 
encourage/promote biodiversity i.e. flower meadows etc. The Parks and Open Space 
Manager advised that a biodiversity assessment of the open spaces within the 
Borough will be undertaken; and 

 what measures had been put in place to prevent and monitor anti-social behaviour in 
play parks. The Parks and Open Space Manager advised that a number of parks 
already had CCTV however the Team was currently exploring a long-term solution to 
prevent and monitor anti-social behaviour particularly for those areas that continue to 
experience long-term issues. 

 
The Committee stated that it was good to see horticulture becoming more of a presence at 
the Committee and requested that the presentation be available to all Members.  
 

5. Street Scene Update  
 
The Committee was informed that, in recent months, a number of projects had been 
progressed in order to continue to improve the cleanliness and general appearance of the 
Borough. 
 
The Waste Projects and Compliance Officer provided Members with an update on the 
following projects:- 
 

 to ensure that graffiti was removed quickly, the Street Cleansing Team had allocated 
extra resources to removal of graffiti. The Team had also been contacting third party 
companies who own and manage street furniture and other assets such as utility 
boxes, post boxes and phone boxes around the Borough in order to clarify their 
policy towards graffiti removal and to identify the optimal reporting method(s). The 
Council’s website had been updated to allow residents to report instances of graffiti 
directly to the correct third parties; 

 the ‘Welcome Back Fund’ had been utilised to re-paint street furniture in the Town 
Centre and on shopping parades. Following a successful bid, the Council had been 
awarded £13,180.40 by the Waste and Resource Action Plan and Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to fund litter bin replacement and recycling ‘on-
the-go’ programme on shopping parades within the Borough; 

 in the Spring and Summer of 2021, a bespoke campaign was developed for the 
Town Centre, with specific messages applicable to the Town Centre environment 
and the cleansing issues that arise there. The parks and open spaces campaign was 
refreshed with specific messages for users of our parks and open spaces. Further 
bespoke campaigns had also been developed and delivered for the rural parts of the 
Borough in collaboration with Parish Councils as well as specific urban locations in 
Northfleet. The intention being to give residents and visitors to these locations a 

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2022 

3 

warm welcome but to remind them of their responsibilities in order to keep the street 
scene clean and tidy;  

 the Great British Spring Clean returned for its seventh year in 2022 and ran from 25 
March to 10 April, the message for the campaign this year was to join the 
#BigBagChallenge and pledge to pick up as much litter as possible during the 
campaign. This year, 24 litter picks were scheduled in Gravesham and 263 sacks of 
litter were collected during organised litter picks. In addition, Street Champions litter 
picked in their local areas as they do all year round. Between April 2021 and March 
2022, Gravesham’s Street Champions reported on undertaking 1,052 litter-picks and 
collecting 2,857 sacks of litter; 

 since the launch of the Street Champions in January 2020, there had not been an 
opportunity for volunteers and Ward Members to get together and meet socially to 
celebrate the success of the initiative due to the pandemic. Approximately 50 
Volunteers, Members and Officers attended the first Street Champions ‘Meet & 
Greet’ event on 24 May. A representative from the North Kent Neighbourhood Watch 
Association attended to meet the Street Champions and shared information about 
the initiative. At the event, 3 individual Street Champions began the process of 
setting up a Neighbourhood Watch scheme in their respective areas. Officers had 
agreed to work closely with the North Kent Neighbourhood Watch Association to 
promote the Street Champions initiative further in Gravesham and to promote the 
Neighbourhood Watch initiative amongst the Street Champions; and  

 LitterLotto was a mobile phone app which encouraged people to bin their litter, with 
users being entered into a draw to win a monthly jackpot of £10,000, as well as spot 
prizes ranging from £5 to £250. To take part, residents simply needed to download 
the app and take a photo of their litter as they put it in the bin. For every piece of litter 
binned, participants get another entry and more chances to win prizes. 

 
The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:- 
 

 the Council should explore and promote any opportunities/initiatives to encourage 
people to bin their litter i.e. the LitterLotto App, litter-picking activities in parks and 
open spaces such as Friends of Parks. The Committee was informed that the 
Council was currently exploring community involvement initiative for litter picking 
particularly in parks and open spaces. The Committee highlighted that the QR code 
included in the report was currently directing to a different App; 

 the Committee commended the work of the Street Champions. The Assistant 
Director (Operations) advised that the Council had promotional leaflets to encourage 
people to sign up to be Street Champions and would arrange for these leaflets to be 
available to Members for distribution; and 

 the Chair stated that it was important for all work, initiatives, schemes etc. be 
publicised.  

 
The Committee thanked the Waste Projects and Compliance Officer for the informative 
report. 
 

6. Allotments Update  
 
The Committee was informed that the Council owned and managed 14 Allotment sites, 
these sites were spread across the urban part of Gravesend and Northfleet. Allotments 
within the Parishes were owned and managed by the Parish Councils. 
 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2022 

4 

There were currently 345 allotment plots of which 294 were tenanted. To manage demand, 
the number of plots available had been increased by dividing newly available plots into two. 
Although, the Council had taken this action, there continued to be a waiting list of 226 
residents. The interest in having an allotment plot increased during the pandemic and had 
continued to do so. Sites such as Central Avenue, Chalk New and Bellman Avenue were the 
Council’s most sought after sites with prospective tenant waiting more than 3 years for a plot 
to become available. 
 
The Cemeteries and Allotment Manager highlighted the following:- 
 

 a lot of work had been undertaken to improve the allotment sites across the Borough 
including the replacement of boundary fencing to make sites more secure and 
removal of rubbish which had historically been dumped on the sites; 

 an Allotment Assistant post had been created so that dedicated time could be 
allocated to the provision of the allotment service including carrying out maintenance 
checks on each site, engaging with tenants, checking that plots were being regularly 
tended to and, where necessary, assisting a tenant if their plot becomes neglected. 
In some cases, where a plot becomes neglected due to it being too much for the 
tenant, the Council can reduce the plot to a manageable size, not only does this help 
the current tenant but also give opportunities to those currently on the waiting list; 

 the service had changed the way in which tenants can communicate with the 
Council. The Council now had a smart phone allowing tenants to keep in contact via 
text message and WhatsApp as well as telephone or email. The service was also in 
the process of designing a newsletter which will be issued to all tenants quarterly. 
The newsletter will contain important updates including any planned works, useful 
hints and tips for a successful allotment, before and after photos and other useful 
information; 

 the allotments can sometimes be the only green space within an urban area so it was 
important to take advantage of this by maximising biodiversity on the sites. The 
Council offers advice to the tenants on how they can encourage biodiversity. To also 
support this, a Bee Keeping policy was also introduced in November 2020, Bellman 
Avenue was a very popular site for the keeping of honeybees; 

 the service had been working with the Community Payback Team who had been able 
to assist in the clearance of neglected and overgrown plots; 

 the Cruden Road allotment site was in need of some major works in order to bring 
the site back into full use. There were currently only 3 active tenants, therefore, plans 
were currently being drawn up to make 20 individual plots available;  

 the service was currently managed via Excel spreadsheets, the aim will be to 
purchase a dedicated software solution which will make it easier to manage the 
service but also the information provided to tenants and residents; and 

 the current allotment policy will be updated within the next year to incorporate many 
of the changes made within the service so both the Council and tenants understand 
their responsibilities. 

 
The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:- 
 

 the Council to ensure that new large development schemes provide allotment space 
particularly if a development consumed existing allotment space/land. The 
Cemeteries and Allotment Manager advised that new large development schemes do 
offer allotment space/land i.e. Springhead Park had an allotment site although there 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2022 

5 

was currently a waiting list. The Council also works closely with Parish Councils 
regarding the allotment sites owned and managed by them;  

 the Council to explore pockets of land (including greenbelt) which could be used to 
increase its allotment space; 

 consideration be given to an additional category for the Civic and Community Awards 
to recognise peoples contribution within a particular area and for bettering lives as 
there were really good examples of people working hard and dedicating time to 
allotment plots with the produce grown being donated to the local community;  

 when an allotment is abandoned/neglected, can the Council speed up the termination 
process and/or contractually oblige tenants. The Cemeteries and Allotment Manager 
advised that, when an allotment is abandoned/neglected, the Council needed to 
follow the relevant legislation which can be a lengthy process. The Council had 
amended its annual billing notice/agreement highlighting key points and regulations. 
Tenants will be requested to acknowledge these by way of signature; and 

 continue to improve the way in which tenants can communicate i.e. consideration be 
given to facilitating a social media platform so that the tenants can make contact with 
each other.   

 
The Committee thanked the Cemeteries and Allotment Manager for an informative report. 
 

7. Corporate Performance Report: Q4 2021-22  
 
The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Four 2021-22 
(January to March 2022). 
 
The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:- 
 

 PI 8 - % of household waste recycled, the Committee asked for an update on the 
phased introduction and enhancement of the recycling provision for flats and how the 
Council compared to other local authorities in Kent. The Assistant Director 
(Operations) advised that the introduction and enhancement of the recycling 
provision for flats continued to be implemented. It was difficult to do a direct 
comparison with other local authorities in Kent however it was felt the Council was on 
average. The recycling project will be enhanced once the Council becomes aware of 
the outcome of the Consistency Consultation. The household waste tonnage had 
increased however it was felt that this was due to the pandemic in that more people 
were working from home, clearing their houses etc; 

 PI 10 - % of household waste sent to landfill, the Committee asked if there had been 
an impact following the reintroduction of not accepting additional black bags. The 
Assistant Director (Operations) advised that there was a big impact initially.  The 
reintroduction was publicised on social media and residents who presented excess 
black sacks received bin hangers and an educational letter with further advice; and 

 PI 11 - Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days), 
the Committee asked whether the Council was aware of the average time taken by 
third party companies to remove graffiti. The Assistant Director (Operations) advised 
that the Council did not currently have timescales however the Council was working 
with those third party companies to obtain copies of their service level agreements.  

 
 
 

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 7.06.2022 

6 

 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.57 pm. 
 

Page 8



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: Thursday, 24th November 2022 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer 
 

Subject: Street Cleansing Policy  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members with the proposed Street Cleansing Policy for comment and 
consideration. 

Recommendations: 

1. Members are requested to consider the proposed Street Cleansing Policy, attached 
as Appendix One, and recommend its adoption. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to 
keep the streets clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste on 
public land. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no financial requests arising from the proposed policy. 

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and 
parks. 

Climate Change  Priority 3 (GBC - The Community Leader): The initiatives and 
public engagement outlined Sections 8, 9 & 10 of the proposed 
Street Cleansing Policy will help in continuing to educate residents 
to improve street cleanliness in order to deliver a cleaner, greener 
borough.   
 
Specifically, the campaigns and actions outlined will encourage 
more stewardship of the local environment to improve the 
cleanliness of the borough, and will reduce the environmental 
harm caused by litter. 

 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

1. Background 

1.1 Street cleanliness is a priority for Gravesham Borough Council, as outlined in the 
Corporate Plan for 2019-23, specifically ‘#1 People: To create clean, welcoming 
neighbourhoods and parks.’ 

1.2 The Street Cleansing Team maintains much of the environment for our 
community.  Clean, safe, accessible and attractive streets & open spaces are a 
fundamental to delivering a borough to be proud of, which is pleasant to live and 
work in and to visit. 

1.3 Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste on public land. 

 

2. Street Cleansing Policy 

2.1 The policy details the service specification for street cleansing, including the 
duties and key functions carried out by the Street Cleansing Team. 

2.2 The key functions carried out are differentiated into two distinct streams; 
scheduled work and unscheduled works. 

2.3 The policy outlines the hours of operation and service functions, as well as the 
response times. 

2.4 The policy also outlines activities such as education and enforcement action 
undertaken to help residents understand their role in maintaining good standards 
of Streetscene to make their borough a more pleasant place to live, work and 
play.  

 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix One - DRAFT Street Cleansing Policy 

 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:  Stuart Alford 

Email:  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 10

mailto:stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Failure to maintain or continue to improve to the cleanliness of the borough will 
damage the local environment; and so residents & visitors may have a negative 
view of the borough. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A. 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety - a clean environment helps to reduce the likelihood of littering 
and other anti-social behaviours. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no implications. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no implications. 

 

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 13 

 

 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Street Cleansing Policy 

 
November 2022 

 

 

              
 
Document Control 
 

Responsible Department   Waste Management  

Authors    Joel Simons (Waste Projects & Compliance Officer)  
     

Consultation    N/A  

Revision History    
    

Date Previous Description of Revision  

 Version    

- - -  

     

     

     

     

 

Page 13



 

Page 2 of 13 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. The Street Cleansing Team maintains much of the environment for our community.  
Clean, safe, accessible and attractive streets & open spaces are a fundamental to 
delivering a borough to be proud of, which is pleasant to live and work in and to visit. 

 

1.2. Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to keep the streets clear of 
litter and remove fly-tipped waste on public land. 

 

1.3. The Street Cleansing Team shall remove accumulations of litter on the public highway, in 
parks & open spaces, in public car parks and on any other relevant public land to the 
standard determined by the Litter Code of Practice and as directed by the Assistant 
Director (Operations) and Street Cleansing Manager. 

 

1.4. The policy is in-line with the Council’s Corporate Plan aims and priorities, specifically ‘#1 
People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks.’ 

 

 

2. SERVICE SPECIFICATION FOR STREET CLEANSING  

 

2.1. A clean, green and safe environment is a high priority for Gravesham Borough Council. 
We manage and maintain public parks, recreation grounds, highway verges and green 
open areas. 

 

2.2. The street cleansing services duties & key functions provided by the Street Cleansing 
Team include:  

 

 Emptying litter bins 

 Removal of fly-tipped materials from Council-owned land and the highway  

 Cleansing of gullies  

 Cleansing of highways and adjacent verges  

 Maintenance of Council-owned rear access ways and alleyways 

 Removal of graffiti and fly-posting  

 Cleansing of parks & open spaces 

 Clearance of dog fouling, broken glass, syringes & other hazardous litter 

 Cleansing of public car parks 

 Street washing in high footfall areas 

 Cleansing of industrial estates  

 Removal of dead animals 
 

2.3. Relevant definitions & terminology are set out in the glossary of terms under Appendix A. 
 

 

3. OVERALL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
3.1. The following table summarises the Streetscene functions undertaken by Gravesham 

Borough Council and third party partners. 
  

Page 14



 

Page 3 of 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. STREET CLEANSING - SCHEDULED WORK 
 
4.1. The service provided shall be delivered in line with of current street cleansing law and any 

modifications or re-enactment thereof and shall be in accordance with all relevant codes 
of practice, guidance and statutory instruments relating to the Street Cleansing Service. In 
particular, street cleansing must accord with the following:  

 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990;  
 

 The Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse (DEFRA). 
 

4.2. All staff deployed by the Street Cleansing Team in the management, administration and 
operation of the Street Cleansing Service are at all times properly and sufficiently qualified, 
experienced and instructed with regard to:  

 

 The task or tasks each person has to perform.  
 

 All relevant provisions of this Service Specification.  
 

 All relevant Law and Codes of Practice relating to the provision of the Street 
Cleansing Service.  
 

 The need to maintain the highest standards of courtesy and consideration.  
 

 The need to carry out their duties in a professional manner at all times.  
 

 All relevant Health and Safety procedures. 
 

Street Scene GBC KCC 
Highways 

National 
Highways 

Litter & dog fouling X   

Fly-tipping on public land X   

Blocked gully X   

Weeds - dead & brown X   

Graffiti (on public property) X   

Car parks (GBC-owned) X   

Fallen tree (parks & open spaces) X   

Abandoned vehicle X   

Dead animals X   

Street name sign issue X   

Fly-tipping obstructing public roads  X  

Weeds - alive & green  X  

Fallen tree (highway)  X  

Blocked drain  X  

Broken street light  X  

Potholes  X  

Highway signage issue  X X 

Grit bins  X  

Litter on A2 verges & slip roads   X 

Page 15



 

Page 4 of 13 

 

4.3. The Street Cleansing Team shall undertake the cleansing of all carriageways, footways, 
footpaths, precincts, channels, kerbs and footpaths. 
 

4.4. The Street Cleansing Team shall initiate and maintain a properly documented system of 
quality control including self- monitoring and audit, which is designed to ensure that the 
service is provided in all respects in accordance with the specification.  

 
4.5. During adverse weather conditions, such as snowfall, when normal operations are 

considered to be impossible, the approved cleansing schedules may be suspended in part 
or all of the borough by the Assistant Director (Operations) or Waste & Transport Manager.  
In these circumstances, street cleansing resources shall be re-deployed to assist in other 
activities, such as snow and ice clearance. 

 
4.6. The Street Cleansing Team shall be required to take all reasonable steps to prevent 

damage to buildings, fences, gates, walls, roads, footpaths, paved areas and any other 
parts of sites during the execution of street cleansing operations.  

 
 
 
5. HOURS OF OPERATION & OUTLINE OF SERVICE FUNCTIONS 
 

5.1. The hours of operation for the Street Cleansing Team are set out below: 
 

Service GBC shall ensure a cleansing 
service presence between: 

Cleaning operations shall 
commence no later than; and the 
hours of work shall be: 

Weekday Service 

 
 
 
Manual Cleaning 
(litter picking) 
 

 
07:00 - 15:30 (Monday - Thursday) 
 
07:00 - 14:30 (Friday) 
 
Shopping parades (Saturdays & 
Sundays)  
 

 
07:00 
 
7 hours and 40 minutes (Monday - 
Thursday) 
 
7 hours (Friday) 
 

 
 
 
Mechanical 
Sweeping 
 

 
 
07:00 - 15:30 (Monday - Thursday) 
 
07:00 - 14:30 (Friday) 
 

 
07:00 
 
7 hours and 40 minutes (Monday - 
Thursday) 
 
7 hours (Friday) 
 

 
 
 
 
Litter Bin Emptying 
 
 

 
 
07:00 - 15:30 (Monday - Thursday) 
 
07:00 - 14:30 (Friday) 
 
Shopping parades, parks & open 
spaces (Saturdays & Sundays) 

 
 
07:00 
 
7 hours and 40 minutes (Monday - 
Thursday) 
 
7 hours (Friday) 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

Page 5 of 13 

 

 

Town Centre Service 

 
 
Manual Cleaning 
(litter picking) 
 

 
 
07:00 - 18:00 (Monday - Sunday) 

 
07:00 
 
10 hours (Monday - Sunday) 
 
 

 
 
Litter Bin Emptying 
 
 

 
 
07:00 - 18:00 (Monday - Sunday) 

 
07:00 
 
10 hours (Monday - Sunday) 
 

 

5.2. Street Sweeping  
 
 
5.2.1. We do not have sufficient resources to clean every street at the same frequency, so 

our sweeping programmes reflect the vehicular and pedestrian usage of streets and 
also the business & retail establishment types in the locality. 
 

5.2.2. Streets on the schedule will be swept at least once every 8 weeks. 
 
5.2.3. Some streets regularly experience parked vehicles and other obstructions which 

cause difficulty in thoroughly cleansing the channels of such highways.  However, 
every effort will be made to keep such streets thoroughly cleansed using 
appropriate equipment and an appropriate cleansing programme following 
consultation and dialogues with residents to ensure that affected streets are kept 
free from vehicles and obstructions at designated times.   

 
5.2.4. The Street Cleansing Team will obtain water in a manner approved by Southern 

Water Ltd and be responsible for any charges for water used or standpipe provision 
required for carrying out specified street cleansing services. 

 

5.3. Fly-Tipping  
 

5.3.1. Fly tipping is the illegal dumping of waste.  Fly-tipping adversely affects our 
environment and the cost of removing and safely disposing of the waste ultimately 
falls to the local taxpayer. 
 

5.3.2. We can clear fly-tipping on publicly accessible land that we control. We cannot clear 
fly-tips from private land or private property. 

 
5.3.3. If the fly-tip is on a road or highway and it is causing an obstruction, Kent County 

Council (KCC) are responsible for its removal can be contacted by calling 03000 41 
81 81.  

 
5.3.4. The Street Cleansing Team work closely with the Council’s Environmental 

Enforcement Team to ensure that fly-tipping is investigated wherever possible.  Our 
Environmental Enforcement Team work with partner agencies and other local 
authorities to investigate and prosecute fly-tippers. 

 

Page 17



 

Page 6 of 13 

 

5.3.5. Those who are caught fly-tipping may be fined up to £50,000 and/or sentenced to 
six months’ imprisonment. 

 
5.3.6. Once our Environmental Enforcement Team have assessed a fly-tip, the details are 

sent to the Waste Management Unit for clearance, after which the removal team will 
to clear the fly-tipped waste within five working days.  This is dependent upon 
access and whether specialist equipment or contractors are required for the 
clearance work. 

 
 

5.4. Litter & Dog Waste Bins  
 

5.4.1. The Street Cleansing Team shall ensure that all litter bins are:  
 

 emptied prior to or as soon as they become full;  

 kept in a clean condition inside and outside by washing and disinfecting and by 
removing fly-posting and graffiti; and any waste in the vicinity of the litter bin is 
swept up and removed when the litter bin is emptied.   

 For more information, please consult the Council’s Litter & Dog Waste Bin 
Policy. 

 
5.5. Graffiti  

 
5.5.1. Graffiti is a form of criminal damage and refers to any drawings, scribbles or 

‘tags’ which are written, painted, sprayed or scratched on the surface of any 
property. Removing graffiti is costly, it can take a significant time to remove 
and requires specialist equipment. 
 

5.5.2. We are responsible for removing graffiti from public buildings, street 
furniture, litter bins, monuments, and playgrounds.   

 
5.5.3. Council Officers and Operatives regularly monitor the borough for areas that 

have been affected by graffiti. 
 
5.5.4. The Street Cleansing Team shall remove offensive graffiti within one 

working day of receipt of the report.  All other graffiti on public property will 
be removed within seven working days of being reported. 

 
5.5.5. We may remove graffiti from private property if it is accessible at ground-

level, and depending on the extent of the graffiti & the resource required to 
remove it. 

 
5.5.6. Other items such as utility boxes and telephone boxes are the responsibility 

of the company that has placed them there.  Such instances of graffiti will be 
reported using the links below: 

 

 Telephone box - email customer.serv.payphones@bt.com  

 Post box - email postbox.appearance@royalmailpfs.com  

 Electricity substation - report it online to UK Power Networks at: 
www.ukpowernetworks.co.uk/safety/around-substations/substation-issue  

 Highway road signs, bollards, street lighting or traffic lights can be reported 
online to Kent County Council at: www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/report-a-
problem  

 

Page 18

mailto:customer.serv.payphones@bt.com
mailto:postbox.appearance@royalmailpfs.com
http://www.ukpowernetworks.co.uk/safety/around-substations/substation-issue
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/report-a-problem
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/report-a-problem


 

Page 7 of 13 

 

5.6. Dead Animals  
 

5.6.1. The Street Cleansing Team shall remove any animal carcasses from the 
public highway, however this will be limited to dogs, cats or wild animals 
such as badgers and foxes:  

 

 as part of the normal cleansing operations; or  

 within 24 hours of being notified of a requirement to remove an animal carcass.  
 

5.6.2. The Street Scene Service shall remove any identification discs or collars found on 
dead animals and inform the owners of such animals. The animal will be kept for a 
period of two weeks, after which appropriate arrangements for disposal of 
carcasses will be made. 
 

5.6.3. Details of the dead animal will be logged centrally by the Waste Management 
Team. 

 
5.7. Leafing  

 
5.7.1. Fallen leaves on roads and pavements which are causing a hazard should be 

reported to Gravesham Borough Council.  
 
5.7.2. From the end of October to December, we re-assign crews and equipment to clear 

leaves to prevent pavements and roads becoming slippery and messy and to 
prevent blockages in gullies. Due to the rate of leaf fall varying through the season 
the amount of time taken to complete a full cycle of the schedule is unpredictable, 
so it is not possible to provide firm dates for when pavements and roads will be 
cleared. 

 
5.7.3. During this period, the street sweeping schedule may be altered to allow for 

additional leaf clearance where required. 
 

5.8. Weeds  
 

5.8.1. The Kent County Council Highways Team is responsible for spraying weeds 
growing at the roadside or on pavements. 

 
5.8.2. Once the weeds are dead, Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for removing 

the weeds.  We will target areas where weed growth is causing a hazard. 
 

5.9. Rear Access Ways & Alleyways  
 

5.9.1. Council-owned rear access ways and alleyways will have fly-tipping cleared; 
vegetation cut back on a scheduled basis.  Where alleyways are blocked, these can 
be reported to us for clearance.   

 
5.9.2. Private access ways are not the responsibility of the Council, however the Council 

will aid residents by removing collected waste generated by them clearing the alley. 
 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

Page 8 of 13 

 

6. RESPONSE TIMES 
 
6.1. The Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse states that, ‘duty bodies are expected to set 

their cleansing schedules so that they meet the duty to keep their relevant land clear of 
litter and refuse, and highways clean.’ 
 

6.2. It also states that ‘there are two most common features that will have an impact on the 
levels and frequency of attention that needs to be paid to an area to keep levels of litter 
and refuse to acceptable standards. These are:  the intensity of activity in the area, from 
people and vehicles; and health and safety limitations.’ 

 
6.3. When the standard falls below Environmental Protection Act (1990) Grade A the Service 

shall adhere to the following Zone 1 response times as detailed below.  The relevant 
zones are set out in Appendix B. 

 

Fall in Standard Response Time 

Grade A to Grade B Within 6 hours 

Grade A to Grade C Within 3 hours 

Grade A to Grade D Within 1 hour 

Grade A to Grade B or below 
(16:00 to 07:00) 

By 08:00 (following day) 

 

6.4. On the Zone 1 sites, all litter bins shall be emptied at the time of cleansing daily or when 
full, whichever is the sooner and the rubbish removed including any spillage that shall be 
picked up at the time of emptying.  

 
6.5. On the Zone 1 sites, the Street Cleansing Team shall be responsible for keeping the 

location free from litter at the time of cleansing daily.  All arisings shall be removed from 
site and taken to an approved disposal facility immediately.  

 
6.6. Our Street Cleansing zoning and cleansing frequency is outlined in Appendix B. 

 
6.7. Roads in Zone 4, rural kerbed roads will be swept once every eight weeks.  Rural, un-

kerbed roads will be cleared as required. 
 

6.8. Areas with special circumstances (situations where issues of health and safety and 
reasonableness and practicability are dominant considerations when undertaking 
environmental maintenance work) shall be swept or cleansed as required or as 
practicable. 

 

7. STREET CLEANSING - UNSCHEDULED WORK 
 

 
7.1. The Street Cleansing Team shall be required, after any special event, to clear the highway 

of all litter within the time-period stipulated in any Code of Practice issued by the Secretary 
of State under the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 unless otherwise 
directed by the Waste Management Unit.  Special events occur in the borough throughout 
the year that attract large numbers of people such as some examples listed below: 

 

 Vaisakhi Parade; 

 St George’s Day Parade; 

 The Riverside Festival; 

Page 20



 

Page 9 of 13 

 

 Bonfire Night; 

 Remembrance Sunday; 

 Christmas Lights "Switch On"; 

 New Year's Eve Celebrations, and; 

 Civic Functions. 
 

7.2. The Street Cleansing Team will provide adequate resources to maintain parks & open 
spaces to the stipulated Grade as specified in the Litter Code of Practice during the higher 
footfall periods of the Spring and Summer months. 
 

7.3. Other unscheduled work includes the clearance of dumped asbestos. 
 

7.4. Third party contractors may be procured to undertake specialist or large-scale clearance 
work. 

 
7.5. Gravesham Borough Council has a duty to cleanse the highways and grass verges of 

major high-speed road, such as the A289 and the A227.  As required, traffic management 
shall be put in place to allow litter-picking to be undertaken safely, or contractors may be 
instructed to do this work on behalf of the Street Cleansing Team.  In addition, cleansing 
rural roads and traffic islands may require traffic management to be organised. 

 

8. Education  
 
8.1. The Council provides a wide range of information to inform residents and households of 

the arrangements for the upkeep of their Streetscene environment in a variety of formats.   
 

8.2. The Council believe that education and awareness raising is vital in order to help residents 
understand their role in maintaining good standards of Streetscene to make their borough 
a more pleasant place to live, work and play.  
 

8.3. The Council further recognises that, when education and awareness initiatives have not 
achieved their desired outcomes to encourage residents not to litter or fly-tip in our 
borough; in particular, where a residents’ actions result in environmental despoilment or 
anti-social behaviour then the Council may undertake enforcement activities in accordance 
with the Council’s ‘Enforcement Policy’ and as such, will follow the principles of a staged 
approach, in line with all necessary legislation. 
 

8.4. We recognise that despite our efforts, people may continue to discard litter, dump their 
rubbish or fail to clean up after their dog has fouled; hence, Streetscene Enforcement 
Officers are employed to take appropriate enforcement action against offenders.  

 
8.5. We also undertake numerous advertising campaigns and special promotions to educate 

people and raise awareness of the dangers associated with litter, dog fouling and fly- 
tipping.  These initiatives include posters, signage, social media campaigns and articles in 
‘Your Borough’ magazine that is circulated to all households in the borough. 

 
 

9. Enforcement  
 
9.1. When education and awareness initiatives have not achieved their desired outcomes to 

encourage residents not to litter or fly-tip in our borough; in particular, where a residents 
actions result in environmental despoilment or anti-social behaviour then the Council may 

Page 21



 

Page 10 of 13 

 

as a last resort, undertake enforcement activities in accordance with the Council 
‘Enforcement Policy.’ 
 

9.2. Gravesham Borough Council have adopted various legislative powers to issue Fixed 
Penalty Notices (FPN) to residents\households\businesses who despoil our borough 
through their actions, such as littering, dog fouling, fly-tipping and graffiti.  

 
9.3. All business proprietors and householders have a duty of care to dispose of their waste in 

a proper manner and the Council has powers to deal with offenders either by the issue of a 
Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) or via the Courts.  

 
9.4. If anyone is caught defacing any property with graffiti they will automatically be issued a 

FPN, payable within 14 days. If this FPN is not paid, then the offender may be taken to 
court. 

 
 

10. ‘Street Champions’ Initiative 
 
10.1. Gravesham’s ‘Street Champions’ is a network of residents who have volunteered to 

improve the quality of the local environment. The Street Champions do this by litter 
picking and reporting environmental crimes and other issues to help make Gravesham 
a cleaner, greener borough. 

 
10.2. Our Street Champions are supplied with their own litter picker, a hoop to hold rubbish 

sacks open, a Hi-Viz jacket, orange waste sacks & clear recycling sacks. 
 

10.3. Volunteers are free to litter pick as often as they like and usually we ask that waste is 
left in our orange or clear sacks at pre-agreed locations so that they can be removed by 
our Street Cleansing Operatives as soon as possible - usually within two working days. 

 
10.4. Our Street Champions are provided with the necessary equipment and personal 

protective equipment, and are provided with a copy of our risk assessment document.  
 

10.5. Volunteer litter pickers are prohibited from working on high-speed roads or roads 
without suitable pavements. 

 
10.6. Volunteers are encouraged to report issues to the Street Cleansing Team so that they 

can be dealt with promptly by our Operatives. 
 

10.7. Our volunteers communicate with Officers via a dedicated mailbox, and report their 
monthly litter picking activities via an online reporting form. 

 
10.8. For more information about the scheme, please email 

street.champions@gravesham.gov.uk or visit: www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-
champions  

 
 

11. Other Documents 
 

 Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy. 

 Refuse & Recycling Policy; Code of Practice. 

 The Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse (DEFRA). 

 Waste Industry Safety & Health Forum. 

 WISH Guidance - Safe Cleansing on the Highway. 

 Safety at Street Works and Road Works : A Code of Practice. 

Page 22

mailto:street.champions@gravesham.gov.uk
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-champions
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-champions


 

Page 11 of 13 

 

 Chapter 8 - Traffic Signs Manual. 
 

Appendix A: Glossary of Key Terms 

Term 
 

Meaning 

Public Highway The term 'public highway' means any carriageway, bridleway, 
footway, path, walkway, bridge, subway or other area over which 
the public have a right of way as a highway under the Highways 
Act 1980 or any other legislation and includes the whole width of 
the highway and the carriageway, footways, grass or planted 
verges, ditches, central reservations, islands, roundabouts, 
footbridges, subways, or any other area shown in the borough of 
Gravesham, forming part of the public highway. It does not 
include the A2, which is managed by National Highways. 
 

Offensive Graffiti Offensive graffiti that is abusive (insulting) and racial (derogatory 
in respect of someone’s ethnological background) in nature. 
 

Path Where the term 'path' is used, it means a highway listed in the 
schedule as a path whether or not that highway is also used by 
vehicles. 
 

Road/Street Where the term 'road/street' is used, it means any highway listed 
in the schedules except a highway listed as a 'path' or 'subway.’ 
 

Fly-Tipping Fly-tipping is the illegal disposal of household, industrial, 
commercial or other 'controlled' waste without a waste 
management licence. It is a criminal offence (Section 33 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990). It differs from littering in that, 
as a general guide, a single plastic sack of rubbish should usually 
be considered fly-tipping rather than litter1. The advice from 
Waste Data Flow is that waste should be counted as fly-tip rather 
than litter if the waste is too large to be removed by a normal 
hand-sweeping barrow. In simple terms, a single full bin bag 
upwards would constitute a fly-tip, similarly several carrier bags 
full of rubbish dumped together would also constitute a fly-tip. 
The National Fly-tipping Prevention Group consider that fly-
tipping differs from littering in that it invariably involves the 
removal of waste from premises where it was produced with the 
deliberate aim of disposing of it unlawfully, or as a result of 
legitimate outlets not being available. 
 

Highway Cleansing 
 

Where the term cleanse or cleansing is used in relation to 
highways it means a thorough collection and removal from the 
highway of all litter and dirt including grit, loose chippings, dust, 
debris, incidental weeds, blossom, leaves, vegetation, animal and 
bird fouling, cans, glass, cartons, paper or any other matter 
whatsoever. 
 

Litter, Rubbish or 
Refuse 
 

• Detritus, debris, soil, loose chippings, salt, oil, twigs, 
dead animals, animal and human faeces, bird fouling, 
leaves and blossom, fruit, other unwanted horticultural 
arisings, including grass cuttings. 

Page 23



 

Page 12 of 13 

 

• Paper and cardboard including containers and boxes. 
Plastic including containers, boxes, bags and bottles. 
Glass and broken glass, including bottles and the 
results of breakages of vehicle glass. Wood including 
containers and boxes. 

• Scrap metal of all sorts. 
• Pallets and furniture. 
• Fabrics including clothing, rags, curtains and carpets. 
• Rubble including sand, cement, plaster, bricks, blocks 

and other waste building materials, and any other 
discarded objects deposited on the highway or road. 

• "Small items" shall mean items of the size of cigarette 
ends, drink can ring pulls and similar size or smaller. 
 

Litter Bin 
 

A receptacle either fixed, free-standing or post-mounted provided 
for the purpose of accepting/containing litter. 
 

Daily Work shall be carried out Monday to Sunday inclusive in the town 
centre, or Monday to Friday inclusive in the rest of the borough. 
 

Once per week Successive operations shall be carried out each week. 
 

Once every eight 
weeks 

Successive operations each eighth week. 
 

 

 

Appendix B: Street Cleansing Zone Plan 

1.  
Continuous Attendance Areas 

(EPA 1990, Section 89) 
 

 
Frequency 

 
a. 

 
Zone 1 (High intensity of use, such as busy public areas)  

 Highways / roads in Gravesend town centre  

 Shop fronts & shopping parades 
 

 
Daily 

 
 
 

2.  
Outside Continuous Attendance Areas 

(EPA 1990, Section 89) 
 

 
Frequency 

 
a. 

 
Zone 2 (Medium density of use) 

 High density urban roads 
 

 
Weekly / Bi-
Weekly 

 
b. 

 
Zone 3 (Low intensity of use) 

 Cleaning on urban roads outside the town centre. 
 

 
Once every eight 
weeks 

   

Page 24



 

Page 13 of 13 

 

c. Zone 4  

 Rural sweeping (kerbed roads). 

Once every eight 
weeks 
 
 

 
d. 

 
Areas with special circumstances (situations where issues of health 
and safety and reasonableness and practicability are dominant 
considerations when undertaking environmental maintenance work). 
 

 
As required / as 
practicable 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: 24 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager 
Deborah Wilders, EP Team Leader 

Subject: Contaminated Land Strategy Review 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members with a draft of the revised Contaminated Land Strategy and the 
proposed consultation methodology. 

Recommendations: 

 
1. Members to consider the draft Strategy for consultation and advise on relevant 

amendments. 
 

2. Members to note and provide any comments on the consultation process as outlined 
and agree to officers proceeding with the same. 
 

3. Following any amendments made to the Strategy following public consultation, the 
Portfolio Holder will formally approve the revised Contaminated Land Strategy without 
further need to report back to the Cabinet Committee.  
 

4. The council continues to progress its revised Contaminated Land Strategy as 
approved. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal Section 57 of the Environment Act 1995 created Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“Part 2A”) which establishes a 
legal framework for dealing with contaminated land in England.  
Accompanying Statutory Guidance issued by the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (“Defra”) was last published 
in April 2012 in accordance with section 78YA of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and explains how local 
authorities should implement the regime. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

Completion of the tasks set out in the proposed Strategy would 
require consultancy support due to the specialist nature of them 
and resources required.  Fee estimates for task 1 to 4 (inc.) have 
been provided by Leap Environmental Ltd, totalling £15,285 
(excluding VAT).  G302/34102 is an established ‘Consultancy 
Fees’ budget within the Environmental Protection cost centre, 
intended for engaging such services.  The current £18,630 budget 
is unlikely to be sufficient to cover the cost of delivering all of the 

Page 27 Agenda Item 6



2 

proposed strategy objectives within a single financial year, as well 
as the ad-hoc reactive consultancy support required to support the 
council’s environmental protection and planning development 
functions, and therefore the objectives would be delivered over 
two or more financial years in order to spread the costs and work 
within existing budgets. 

Corporate Plan The publication of a Contaminated Land Strategy and progression 
of the tasks set out within in directly support Objective #1 People – 
in particular the commitment to improve the local environment. 
Because of the intrinsic link contaminated land has with 
development, it also supports a number of other development-
related commitments within both Objective #1 and Objective #2 
Place, as well as seeking to support digital innovation within 
Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  Before developments which aim to support carbon reduction 
schemes can progress, land must first be safe for its intended use 
which is in part reliant on an efficient contaminated land function 
underpinned by an effective Strategy. 

 
1. Background 

1.1 England has a considerable legacy of historical land contamination involving a 
very wide range of substances. On all land there are background levels of 
substances, including substances that are naturally present as a result of varied 
and complex geology and substances resulting from human pollution. On some 
land there are greater concentrations of contaminants, often associated with 
industrial use and waste disposal. In a minority of cases there may be sufficient 
risk to health or the environment for such land to be considered contaminated 
land. 

1.2 Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990, which came into force in 
April 2000, establishes a legal framework for dealing with contaminated land in 
England.  Its main purpose is to provide an improved system for the identification 
of land that poses unacceptable risks to health or the environment and for 
securing remediation where such risks cannot be controlled by other means. 

1.3 It places a duty on local authorities to cause their areas to be inspected with a 
view to identifying contaminated land, and to do so in accordance with Statutory 
Guidance published by Defra in April 2012 which explains how local authorities 
should implement the regime. 

1.4 The Guidance clarifies that local authorities adopt a “strategic approach” to 
inspecting their areas, prioritise land most likely to pose the greatest risk to human 
health and the environment, and publish this information within a formally adopted 
written Strategy. 

1.5 Specific mention is made within the Guidance of local authorities using the 
planning system to ensure land is made suitable for use when it is (re)developed 
and this has, and continues to be, the main mechanism in the identification and 
management of land affected by contamination in Gravesham. 

1.6 The Environmental Protection team, with support from specialist contaminated 
land consultants, work closely with Planning Officers to ensure the appropriate 
(re)development of land by imposing planning conditions on developers requiring 
them to carry out contamination assessments and, where applicable, remedial 
work.  

Page 28



3 

2. Contaminated Land Strategy 

2.1 The Council published its first written Strategy in 2002 with revisions published in 
2009 and 2013.  The current Strategy is published on the council’s website and 
available to view at: 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/124/contaminated-land-strategy 

2.2 Each Local Authority is required to keep their written strategy under periodic 
review to ensure it remains up to date. Whilst the review period is at the local 
authorities’ discretion, a five-year period is considered to be good practice.  

2.3 A further review of the council’s Strategy has not been required to date as there 
have not been any changes to legislation, Statutory Guidance, nor the council’s 
primary approach to identifying and remediating contaminated land through the 
planning process since the adoption and publication of the current policy.   

2.4 Whilst this remains the case, updates and improvements are now required to 
processes and mapping data in order to be able to support our statutory duty to 
inspect and prioritise contaminated land, which cannot be delivered in-house due 
to the lack of specialist Contaminated Land or Geographical Information Systems 
(GIS) officers, such that a review of the Strategy is now required. 

2.5 The council’s appointed contaminated land consultants, Leap Environmental Ltd, 
were engaged in helping to develop the draft strategy, which clearly reflects the 
steps proposed and is attached to this report at Appendix 1.  

2.6 Completion of the proposed Strategy tasks will assist officers in providing reliable 
responses to contaminated land enquiries and land searches, and levying a 
charge wherever possible, which is currently hindered by the lack/unreliability of 
available data.    

3. Consultation and Publication 

3.1 It is proposed to consult with the following: 

 Environment Agency  

 English Heritage  

 Natural England  

 Defra 

 Borough Councillors 

 Parish Councils 

 Kent County Council 

 Kent and Medway Councils, via the Kent and Medway Environmental Protection 
Steering Group 

 Members of the public through the council’s website 

3.2 A consultation of at least four weeks is proposed.  Methods of consultation will be 
via the council’s website and by email. 

3.3 All incoming responses will be collated and entered onto a grid for consideration. 

3.4 Officers will conduct an evaluation of each response, seeking specialist advice 
from contaminated land consultants where required, and give a recommendation 

Page 29

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/124/contaminated-land-strategy


4 

as to whether or not to amend the Strategy.  This will be presented the Portfolio 
Holder for formal adoption. 

3.5 The revised Contaminated Land Strategy will then be published. 

4. Appendices 

4.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

4.1.1 Draft Contaminated Land Strategy 2022 

5. Background Documents  

5.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:  Mark Lees, Regulatory Services Manager 

Email:  Mark.lees@gravesham.gov.uk 

 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment It is a requirement for a Local Authority to have a contaminated land strategy and 
for this to be review periodically. This document sets out how the Authority intends 
to inspect its area for the purpose of identifying contaminated land and how it will 
go about securing remediation of that land formally determined as contaminated. 
It documents transparently what the authority’s aims are and how it is dealing with 
contaminated land. The Strategy reduces the opportunity for challenge through the 
Courts that the Council is failing to meet its commitments in this area of work.  

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

Page 30

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder N/A 

Digital and website 
implications 

Web-content will need to be updated as part of the consultation and in re-publishing 
a revised Strategy document. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

N/A 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy 

Inspection strategy as required under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 

Update 2022/23 

 

Summary 

Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990 is the legal driver behind the contaminated 

land regime in England. Under Part 2A each local authority is required to take a strategic approach 

to inspect the land within its geographic boundaries, to identify and prioritise contaminated land 

most likely to pose an unacceptable risk to human health and publish this information within a 

written Strategy. Where land is classified as contaminated under Part 2A the Council is required to 

identify the person(s) liable to pay for the remediation and to ensure that it is carried out to the 

required standard. The Department for Environment Farming and Rural Affairs (Defra) published 

revised Statutory Guidance in April 2012, which requires all local authorities to periodically review 

their existing Inspection Strategy to ensure it remains up to date. 

Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) published its first Inspection Strategy in 2002, shortly after 

publication of the original Statutory Guidance in 2001. Subsequently, the Strategy has been kept 

under periodic review with further revisions to the Strategy made in 2009 and 2012. The bulk of the 

statutory obligations relating to land contamination and activity on bringing contaminated sites into 

beneficial use have been and will continue to be addressed through the planning / redevelopment 

process. At present, most contaminated land issues are dealt with proactively through the planning 

regime which requires development sites to be “suitable for use” under local guidance to be issued 

under the NPPF.  Work on any identified high priority sites on council-owned land will be completed 

utilising the Council’s in-house resources and employing private environmental consultancy services 

as/where required.  

The 2022/23 strategy review and update has identified a need to review and update the Council’s 

Land Quality GIS mapping database which will have benefits to both the planning application and 

the land search services. 

This Strategy will be reviewed and, if necessary, updated further in 2027/28.  

 

Context 

This Strategy outlines how GBC (the Council), will fulfil its statutory duties to investigate potentially 

contaminated land in the Borough as laid out in the Defra Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance 

(the Statutory Guidance). This Strategy should be read in conjunction with the Statutory Guidance, 

as it contains the legal and scientific detail behind the Council Strategy. Reference is also made to 

supplementary planning guidance which details the Council’s expectations of how land quality issues 

will be addressed and managed, primarily through the redevelopment of land under the planning 

process. This Strategy reflects the current and anticipated future financial circumstances the Council 

will face over the Strategy review period (2022/23-2027/28). 

Page 33



Objectives 

The objective of the Strategy is to set out a framework detailing a proportionate approach by the 

Council for management of the risks raised by land contamination, whilst ensuring that any 

unacceptable risk to human health or the wider environment is resolved. 

All investigations and risk assessments will be site specific, scientifically robust and will ensure only 

land that poses a genuinely unacceptable risk is determined as contaminated under Part 2A. 

The Council will consider the various benefits and costs of taking action, with a view to ensuring that 

corporate priorities and statutory requirements are met in a balanced and proportionate manner. 

The Council will seek to maximise the net benefits to residents taking full account of local 

circumstances. 

 

Statutory Guidance 

The legal driver behind the Contaminated Land regime in England is Part 2A (Sections 78A- 78Y) of 

the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 1990) which came into effect in April 2000 (inserted by 

Section 57 of the Environment Act 1995).  This established the regulatory system for the identification 

and remediation of land contamination. 

The overarching objectives of the Government’s policy on contaminated land and the Part 2A 

regime are:   

 To identify and remove unacceptable risks to human health and the environment;   

 To seek to ensure that contaminated land is made suitable for its current use; 

 To ensure that the burdens faced by individuals, companies and society as a whole are 

proportionate, manageable and compatible with the principles of sustainable 

development.   

 

The legislation places duty on Local Authorities to inspect their area from time to time for the 

purpose of (a) identifying contaminated land and (b) deciding whether such land should be 

designated a special site, which then becomes the responsibility of the Environment Agency (EA).      

Defra published the Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance in April 2012.  This requires local 

authorities to adopt a “strategic approach” to inspecting their areas and prioritise land most likely 

to pose the greatest risk to human health and the environment and publish this information within 

a written Strategy. The Statutory Guidance requires Local Authorities keep their written strategy 

under periodic review to ensure it remains up to date.  The timeframe for reviewing the Strategy 

was left to the Local Authority to decide, although the Guidance identified 5 years as “good practice.” 

The Council published its first written Strategy in 2002 with revisions published in 2009 and 2012.   

There is other statutory guidance which the Council needs to consider in relation to Part 2A: 

 National Planning Policy; 

 Local Planning Policy (2017); 

Page 34



 Guidance on Radon; 

 Building Regulations; 

 Environmental Permitting Regulations; 

 Environmental Damage Regulations; 

 Statutory Nuisance. 

 

Approach to contaminated land assessment 

The approach to contaminated land assessment in the United Kingdom is presented in the Land 

Contamination Risk Management (LCRM) documentation available on the government 

(www.gov.uk) website. The guidance sets out three stages: 1) Risk Assessment, 2) Options Appraisal 

and 3) Remediation and Verification. Risk assessment is based on the Source-Pathway-Receptor 

contaminant linkage concept.  For a risk to exist then all three elements of the linkage must be 

present. This is the case for land quality assessments under both planning and Part 2A. 

Source: Contaminants in soil, groundwater, gas or vapour; 

Pathway: Physical contact with contaminated soil or groundwater, inhalation of dust, consumption 

of edible plants grown in contaminated soil and/or soil attached to edible plants, inhalation of 

indoor or outdoor gases or vapours, permeation of contamination into water supply pipes, 

migration of contamination in groundwater, migration of contamination via overground flow; 

Receptor: Humans, controlled waters (groundwater or surface water), ecological receptors (animals 

and sites designated as environmentally sensitive land uses), buildings and structures. 

Assessment under Part 2A 

For land to be determined as contaminated land under Part 2A there must exist a ‘Significant 

Possibility of Significant Harm’ (SPOSH) from contamination in, on, or under the land, such that it 

presents an unacceptable intake (UI) for users of that land (i.e., in such a form and quantity that it 

presents a hazard by means of one or more pathways that has a significant possibility of causing 

significant harm to someone).  It is noted that there is no clear government guidance on what 

constitutes “unacceptable intake” or “significant possibility of significant harm”.  However, the regime 

and associated statutory guidance1 is clear that only those sites ‘most in need of remediation’ should 

be dealt with under Part 2A. 

The Statutory Guidance sets out four categories of sites to assist in the decision making process, 

where Categories 1 and 2 ‘would encompass land which is capable of being determined as 

contaminated land on the grounds of SPOSH’ and, Categories 3 and 4 would ‘encompass land not 

capable of being determined on such grounds’.  Further technical supporting information was 

provided by DEFRA in respect of screening levels for Category 4 land (i.e. not Contaminated Land 

as defined by Part 2A).  These are often referred to as C4SLs.  The C4SLs consist of cautious 

estimates of contaminant concentrations in soil that are still considered to present an acceptable 

level of risk, within the context of Part 2A, by combining information on human health toxicology, 

                                                           
1 Environmental Protection Act 1990, Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance, HM Government, April 
2012 

Page 35



exposure assessment and normal ambient levels of contaminants in the environment. That is to say 

that exceedance of a C4SL does not, in and of itself, constitute SPOSH. 

Duties 

Local Authorities 

 Where possible inspect the Borough to identify contaminated land;  

 Prepare a strategy for inspection of their area;  

 Determining whether any land meets the definition of Contaminated Land under Part 2A i.e. land 

that is causing harm or has potential of causing harm;  

 Establish whether sites should be designated as “Special Sites” and thus become the responsibility 

of the Environment Agency;  

 Consult the Environment Agency on sites where there is pollution of controlled waters and where 

the Local Authority considers that land meets the definition of a Special Site;  

 Where the Agency carries out an inspection on behalf of the Council, the inspection duty and 

the decision as to whether land is Contaminated Land, remain the sole responsibility of the 

Council;  

 Act as enforcing authority for all contaminated land which is not designated as a “Special Site”, 

for which the Environment Agency will be the enforcing authority; and 

 Maintain a public register of sites for which a remediation notice has been served, or where a 

remediation statement or declaration has been published. 

Environment Agency 

The Agency is a primary source of information and advice for local authorities. In addition, the 

Agency has its own regulatory functions to perform under Part 2A:    

  

 Assist and provide guidance to local authorities in identifying contaminated land, particularly in 

cases of water pollution;   

 Undertake inspections of Potential Special Sites following LA request;  

 Act as enforcing authority for any land designated as a Special Site;  

 Maintain a register of Special Sites remediation; and 

 Publish periodic reports on the State of Contaminated Land. 

Both LA and EA: 

 Establish who should bear responsibility for the remediation of land;  

 Decide, after consultation, what remediation is required and ensure that such remediation takes 

place either through agreement or by serving a remediation notice.  In certain circumstances the 

local authority may need to undertake the remediation;  

 Where a remediation notice is served or the authority carries out the work, to determine who 

should bear what proportion of the costs for the work; and   

 Record certain prescribed information regarding regulatory actions on a public register.    

 

 

Page 36



Borough Characteristics 

Physical and Land designations 

The Borough of Gravesham is situated in the North west of the county of Kent on the South Bank 

of the River Thames some 32 km east of London and astride the A2. The borough consists of the 

urban areas of Gravesend and Northfleet and the parishes of Cobham, Higham, Luddesdown, 

Meopham, Vigo and Shorne. Key statistical information about the borough and its community can 

be found in the Gravesham Community Profile document, available to view on the council’s website 

via: 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-

data/transparency-and-open-data/community-profile 

Gravesham is both urban and rural in character. Gravesend/Northfleet comprises the main urban 

area, which includes extensive industrial, commercial and the main residential areas of the borough. 

A large amount of new development is planned as part of its position within the Thames Gateway.  

The extensive rural area lies to the south of the A2 and also to the East of Gravesend. This mainly 

forms part of the dip slope of the North Downs, rising from the riverside marshes in the north to 

the crest of the Downs in the south. Much of this rural area is of high agricultural, landscape and/or 

nature conservation value. Within the rural area, there are a number of villages, some of which are 

of considerable historic and conservation interest.  

The borough has the following land use make-up: 

  Urban    1,320 hectares (13%) 

  Agricultural   7,050 hectares (70%) 

  Woodland   1,195 hectares  (12%) 

  Other    400 hectares (5%) 

  TOTAL    9,965 hectares 

 

The Borough contains 23 Building Conservation Areas, 305 Listed Buildings and 9 Scheduled 

Ancient Monuments. 

The Borough contains five Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and sixteen Local Wildlife Sites. 

 

Geology, Hydrogeology and Hydrology 

The underlying geology is an important consideration when considering contaminated land, 

especially with consideration to controlled waters as the permeability of the soils affect the migration 

of contamination in both soil and groundwater. Mobile contaminants, generally move more freely 

within coarse textured soils , such as sand and gravels as opposed to less freely through fine textured 

soils  such as silty clays.  

Page 37

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/community-profile
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/community-profile


Much of Gravesham lies on chalk, a Principal aquifer with highly permeable strata and significant 

fractures which may have a low capacity for attenuating contamination entering the surface. A 

significant percentage of the public water supplies of Kent are derived from the groundwater of 

Chalk and consequently the importance of protecting these resources from pollution is recognised 

in the nationally established groundwater protection policy. More information on this policy 

together with aquifers, groundwater vulnerability and watercourses within the Borough of 

Gravesham can be found in the Medway Local Environment Agency Plan published by the 

Environment Agency. 

The north of the Borough has a number of major industrial processes which are potential sources 

of pollutants of the groundwater. These are regulated by the Environment Agency under the 

Integrated Pollution Control regime which includes the control of pollutants into water. There are 

also areas of protected groundwater where important abstractions occur (‘source protection 

zones’). The Environment Agency has provided data on abstractions and discharge consents which 

will be used to identify sensitive areas in the Borough. 

An aquifer is defined by the EA as ‘underground layers of water-bearing permeable rock or drift 

deposits from which groundwater can be extracted’. As well as maintaining the flow in some rivers, 

the EA states that groundwater provides a third of England and Wales’ drinking water and the EA 

ensure it remains protected from contamination. Groundwater vulnerability zones are classified by 

the EA as high, intermediate or low vulnerability. More detail regarding aquifers can be found on 

the DEFRA magic website.  

The Borough is underlain by vulnerable and important controlled water receptors. A priority of 

development control and contaminated land regulation for GBC will be to ensure this resource is 

protected from contamination. 

With respect to the Principal aquifer, where groundwater is in hydraulic continuity with the River 

Thames, where contamination is found the EA would expect the developer to investigate, assess 

and if appropriate remediate.  Please see the EA’s Groundwater Protection: Principles and Practice 

(in particular Part J) for further information. 

Surface water features within the Borough include the River Thames along the northern boundary 

of the Borough and the Ebbsfleet River in the west.  

 

What have we done already? 

The original strategy was produced in 2002. A Land Quality GIS database was developed recording 

current and historical industrial land uses. This database is utilised by Council officers to identify and 

prioritise potentially contaminated land for inspection under Part 2A.  Information on the Land 

Quality GIS is also utilised when assessing planning applications for new developments, assisting 

officers in deciding when to apply land quality conditions to new planning permissions. If a potential 

risk is identified from a former or current potentially contaminative land use then contaminated land 

conditions are placed on the planning permission decision notice.  

Page 38



Using the Land Quality GIS, an initial list of potential sites – where historical land uses of potential 

interest coincide with present day sensitive uses - was created.  These were prioritised based on an 

assessment of the Level of Potential Hazard (historical land uses rated as Low, Medium and High 

risk) and the Predicted Impact, but are in need of review and updates. 

 

What are we doing now? (and will continue to do) 

1) Responding to enquiries and complaints about contaminated land (both private and Council-

owned land) 

A complaint made regarding contaminated land will be dealt with using the same procedure as is 

currently used by Regulatory Services when dealing with statutory nuisance complaints i.e. 

• Their complaint will be logged and recorded 

• They will be contacted by an officer regarding their complaint; usually within five 

working days of the complaint being made (one day in the case of urgent referrals) and 

kept informed of progress. 

• The council will investigate the complaint as appropriate and, where necessary, take 

steps towards resolving the problem.  

 

2) Processing planning applications 

The planning system has, and continues to be, the main mechanism in the identification and 

management of land affected by contamination. Potentially contaminated sites are dealt with by 

imposing pre-commencement planning conditions on developers, requiring them to carry out 

contamination assessments and where applicable remedial work. At present, most contaminated 

land issues are dealt with proactively through the planning regime which requires development sites 

to be “suitable for use” under local guidance to be issued under the NPPF.  The Environmental 

Protection team work closely with Planning Officers to ensure the redevelopment of land is carried 

out appropriately. 

3) Undertaking site inspections and site visits as/where required 

A site visit might be required in one of the following scenarios: 

 A site has been identified as requiring further inspection as part of the Council’s duties under 

Part 2A; 

 A site may be visited in conjunction with a planning application that has been made or to 

oversee remediation or investigation works required by a planning condition; 

 A site may be visited in response to a complaint from a member of public. 

 

4) Responding to land search requests 

The Environmental Health Team responds to land search requests and is responsible for providing 

information in a timely manner. 

 

Page 39



 

What do we need to do? 

The Statutory Guidance requires the Council to continue to identify and prioritise sites that may be 

potentially contaminated by their historic or current use, followed by detailed 

inspections/investigations of sites where a need for further investigation has been identified. 

The tasks proposed for progression under this Strategy are as follows: 

1. Review land search procedure and where necessary/possible modernise the delivery of land 

search responses.  

 

2. Evaluate existing information held by the Environmental Health Team/Planning department. 

 

3. Update mapping layers, GIS and datasets including: 

 

a. Historic land use layers with mapping up to current day. 

b. Current land uses (residential, education, green spaces, hotel/commercial and 

allotments). 

c. Update where site investigations have been completed. 

d. Update where Council owned land is located. 

 

4. Complete updated database of potential sites removing those which have now been 

addressed through the planning process and adding any new sites identified by review 

process. 

 

5. Subject to resources and as priorities dictate, carry out detailed inspection of potential Part 

2A sites.  

 

6. Prepare for the next Strategy review. 

 

How are we proposing to do it? 

Identification of potential sites and prioritisation for detailed inspection 

The work already undertaken means that the Council has built a database of potentially 

contaminated sites across the Borough. This database will be modernised, updated and streamlined 

to improve its efficiency for use by Council officers, for planning applications and for land search 

requests. The data base will be regularly updated when new information becomes available. The 

contaminated land register for the Borough will be maintained in accordance with Statutory 

Guidance requirements.  

Once a new, updated list of prioritised sites has been constructed those sites with the highest priority 

ranking will be subject to more detailed inspection.  It is envisaged that all but the highest risk sites 

will be addressed via the planning process (this is primarily due to resource constraints). High risk 

Page 40



sites under private ownership will be addressed by identifying and contacting the landowner and 

initialising the assessment process in accordance with the statutory guidance. High risk sites under 

Council ownership shall be investigated utilising Council records, environmental searches and 

publicly available records to produce a Desk-based (Phase I) study. A site visit will then be 

undertaken. If the Phase I assessment concludes a significant potential risk does exist to one or more 

identified receptor then an intrusive (Phase 2) site investigation will be undertaken. Much of this 

work will be undertaken by employing the services of specialist Environmental Consultancies. 

Investigation of sites where a potential unacceptable risk has been identified will be prioritised thusly: 

1) Human Health Receptors 

2) Controlled Waters Receptors 

3) Ecological and Environmentally Sensitive Land Uses (Ecosystems) 

4) Buildings and Structures. 

The detailed inspection of a site will be limited to a site walkover and desktop study in the first 

instance.  The Council will follow the Statutory Guidance at all points of the process and will work 

with the Environment Agency and external experts where appropriate. Where the potential for a 

significant pollutant linkage is identified, preliminary soil and groundwater tests may be carried out.  

Where and only where a significant harm or a significant possibility of significant harm is identified 

will the site be designated as contaminated land/a special site. If appropriate the Council will 

proceed to secure satisfactory remediation of the site, identify liable persons and recover costs in 

accordance with the Act and the Statutory Guidance. 

 

What are the possible outcomes of a detailed inspection? 

The statutory guidance describes in detail the possible outcomes of detailed inspection for all 

receptors. Sites will be assigned categories (1-4). Generally, sites in Category 1 will require immediate 

action (designation as contaminated land); sites in Category 2 may require immediate action. Sites 

in Category 3 may not meet the stringent definition of contaminated land but may require 

observation or monitoring and sites in Category 4 are unlikely to meet the definition of 

contaminated land. For controlled water receptors the Council will consult the Environment Agency. 

Detailed inspection and risk assessment may show that an unacceptable risk is present. Where an 

unacceptable risk is present, or evidence of harm being caused this will trigger determination of the 

site as contaminated land. The Council will then decide based upon all of the available information 

and in line with the Statutory Guidance whether remediation of the site should be carried out. If 

remediation is carried out this will be only be done where necessary and the Council will work with 

residents and all interested parties to minimise disruption as much as possible. 

 

Who pays for this? 

Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 makes it clear that, wherever possible, the original 

polluter and/or a developer (‘Class A appropriate person’) that knowingly developed a 

Page 41



contaminated site without ensuring suitable levels of remediation are completed should pay for any 

remediation needed in later years. The Council has a duty under the legislation will make every 

effort to ensure that this is the case. However, the legal process is time consuming and difficult 

particularly when pollution and/or development was many years ago, or the people and companies 

involved no longer exist. Where it is not possible to identify the ‘Class A appropriate person’, in 

accordance with the Guidance, the responsibility for dealing with the contamination passes to the 

current landowner of the land (‘Class B appropriate person’).  Under the legislation the Council has 

a duty to identify appropriate persons and apportion liability.   

 

What are the wider benefits of this strategy? 

As a result of the data collated during the initial prioritisation exercise, the Council has a searchable 

layer of historical land uses in the Borough.  This information is used by Environmental Health, 

Planning and Building Control Teams when considering new developments. The information is used 

to provide more detailed and useful replies to environmental information requests (e.g. from 

solicitors when people are moving house) and enables the Council to focus its attention on the 

highest risk sites that have been identified. 

 

How will we measure our progress in implementing this strategy? 

The strategic inspection process is by nature an iterative process. It is normal that sites will be added 

and removed from the database as information becomes available. We aim to add more detailed 

knowledge about sites each year using existing resources. This increased knowledge will enable the 

Council to refine the prioritisation process further, reduce the number of sites that need more 

detailed investigation and identify those that need detailed investigation most urgently. 

 

How does this strategy interact with the planning system? 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear reference to dealing with land 

contamination.  Land contamination is a material planning consideration.  As explained the 

development management process is the primary way in which land contamination issues are 

investigated and managed. 

Where a site is affected by contamination, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with 

the developer and/or landowner. 

As an absolute minimum this means that the site must be incapable of being designated as 

contaminated land as defined under Part 2A.  

As a general rule the Council will expect any planning application for land which may be affected 

by contamination to be accompanied by a report on a desktop study and site walkover as defined 

in British Standard BS10175:2011+A2:2017 ”Investigation of potentially contaminated site – Code of 

Practice”. This report should identify that the site has been assessed as suitable for use or in the 

event that further works are needed, detail works required and put forward solutions for how the 

Page 42



site can reasonably be made suitable for the proposed use. All reports should be completed by a 

suitably qualified “competent” person as defined in the NPPF. 

 

Contact us 

If you would like to talk about this strategy or other matters related to contaminated land in detail 

please contact the Environmental Protection Team via email: ep@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 43

mailto:ep@gravesham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: Thursday 24 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford – Assistant Director (Operations) 

Subject: Alley Clearance Project Update 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To update Members on the progress of the Alley Clearance Project 

Recommendations: 

1. Information Only 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no legal implications to this report. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

A one-off budget of £150,000 for 2022/23 has been set aside for 
this project.  The project is funded from the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account 

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and 
parks. 

Climate Change  When designing the scheme, it was decided that the alley crew 
would use an electric powered van.  This was ordered in March 
and was due to be delivered in August.  However due to disruption 
in Worldwide supply chains, the delivery of the vehicle has been 
delayed until the New Year. 

 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 For the year 2022/23, a new project to clean up alleys across the borough has 
been established.   

1.2 The aim of the project is to clear alleys which have become overgrown and/or 
suffer from excess flytipping whether the alleys are privately or council owned to 
make them accessible and improve resident’s local environment.  Where suitable 
and there is resident support, the aim is to gate alleys to stop future flytipping or 
unauthorised access. 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7



2 

1.3 A list of 18 alleys has been established through looking at historical enquiries from 
residents, councillors and liaising with housing officers. 

1.4  A budget of £150,000 was set aside for the project to fund the two operational 
staff, equipment, a vehicle and gates (where appropriate).  The plan was to use 
an electric vehicle for the project, however although this was initially due to be 
delivered in August, as with many vehicles, delivery has been delayed until after 
Christmas. 

2. Project Update 

2.1 Before an alley clearance is started, the local ward councillors are notified by 
email and a letter is sent to all residents who are affected by the alley.  The letter 
informs residents that the Council will be carrying out a one-of clearance of their 
alley and that the option of alley gating funded by the Council is available.   

2.2 The alley gating part of the project should be led by local councillors and residents 
and an alley gating guide has been established to assist councillors and residents 
in getting the necessary support.  When gating an alley, residents have to agree 
to manage the gates moving forward including their maintenance and keys.   

2.3 An initial list of 18 alleys was established and the clearance team have completed 
nine of these alley clearances. 

2.4 The completed alleys have been in the following areas 

2.4.1 St Margarets Crescent 

2.4.2 Medhurst Crescent 

2.4.3 St Marks Avenue 

2.4.4 Rural Vale 

2.4.5 Abbey Road 

2.4.6 Bellman Avenue 

2.4.7 Alanbrooke 

2.4.8 Haynes Road 

2.4.9 Taunton Vale 

2.5 Appendix 1 shows some before and after photos of the completed alleys. 

2.6 Over the next few months, the crew will be carrying out clearances in alleys in the 
Havelock Road, Seymour Road, Kings Farm, Huntley Avenue and Railway Street 
areas. 

2.7 Overall the project has been well received by residents, with officers receiving a 
number of positive comments from residents who have benefited from the alley 
clearances. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1 – Before and After Photos 

Page 46



3 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:  Stuart Alford 

Email:  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 47



4 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment It is essential that residents manage the alley gating process and ongoing 
maintenance otherwise there is the risk of the gates now being managed and there 
being a large long liability to the Council. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

NA 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

NA 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

NA 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

NA 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The gating of alleys will help with unauthorised access so reducing the likelihood of 
crime. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no implications 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no implications 

 

Page 48

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Alley Project Report 

Rural Vale Alley 

Before 

 

After 

 

  

Page 49



Appendix 1 – Alley Project Report 

Abbey Road 

Before 

 

After 

  

Page 50



Appendix 1 – Alley Project Report 

St Marks Avenue 

Before 

 

After 

  

Page 51



Appendix 1 – Alley Project Report 

Haynes Road 

After 

 

Page 52



 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

Date: 24 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane, Assistant Director (Planning) 
Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations) 
Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory 
 

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2022 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To inform Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations: 

This paper is for information only purposes. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.   

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership 
Framework, all potential partnership opportunities and shared 
working arrangements are formally considered by the Monitoring 
Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals are taken into 
account prior to entering into a new arrangement. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present 
financial and value for money savings to the council. The council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework requires all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to be 
formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the 
financial aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to 
entering into a new partnership. 

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of 
the strategic objectives of the council.   

Climate Change  A specific section has been included within the partnership 
register to identify how partnerships contribute to the council's 
overall Climate Change commitment (if applicable). 

 

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community.  This was further amplified during the council’s, and the community’s, 
response to the COVID pandemic. 

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provides a central record of partnerships in which the council 
is involved. The register is available on the council website and is reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis. 

1.3 The register provides a general overview of the partnership, along with details of 
the main aims and objectives of the partnership and how the joint-working 
approach contributes and supports the delivery of council objectives. 

 

2. Operational Services Cabinet Committee 

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Operational 
Services Cabinet Committee are as follows: 

2.1.1 Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership 

2.1.2 Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board 

2.1.3 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership 

2.1.4 Licensing Shared Service 

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community. 

 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

 Appendix Two – Operational Services – Corporate Register of Partnerships – 
July 2022 

 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows: 

 Report to Full Council – 22 June 2021 - Working in Partnership Framework – 
June 2021 

 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements – July 
2022 published on the council’s website - Corporate partnerships 
(gravesham.gov.uk) 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements 

Page 54

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships


3 

 

Lead Officer:   Wendy Lane, Assistant Director (Planning) 

 Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations) 

 Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory 

Email:    wendy.lane@gravesham.gov.uk 

  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk 

  elizabeth.thornton@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 55

mailto:wendy.lane@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:elizabeth.thornton@gravesham.gov.uk


4 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications with this report.   

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no digital and website implications with this report.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding commitment (if 
applicable). 

 

Page 56

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements 

 

 
 

July 2022 
 

 
A summary of partnership and shared working 

arrangements  
 
 
 

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee 

  

 

Appendix Two 
Page 57



Gravesham Borough Council           - 2 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
Introduction 

The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement 
that is reviewed on an annual basis.   

 

Partnerships 

The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more 
independent bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”. 

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other 
partnerships’.  In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following 
definition: 

“A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one 
that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s 
Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham 
Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those 
partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of 
the council.” 

 

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships: 

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant 

3 Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
Partnership 



6 Kent & Medway Air Quality Partnership 

9 Kent Resource Partnership 

 

 

Shared Working Arrangements 

In addition to partnership working, the council also has a number of shared working arrangements in 
place which range from a full-shared service with another local authority to shared manager/officer 
arrangements.  The council is currently involved in the following shared working arrangements: 

Page Ref. Name of Partnership 

11 Licensing Shared Service 

 

 

Glossary of Terms (Page 13) 

Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be 
useful to provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the 
terminology used within the document. 

 
 

Page 58



Gravesham Borough Council           - 3 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 
 

Name of Partnership Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Partnership 

Responsible Officer Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning) 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton Lead Member for Operational Services 

Statutory Status Statutory Partnership 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership 

To secure the conservation and enhancement of the Kent Downs AONB 
whilst supporting the social and economic wellbeing of its communities. 
Objectives: (1) to help realise the strategic vision for the Kent Downs 
AONB, and to oversee the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan; (2) to 
provide advice to those of its members with statutory responsibilities for 
the effective management of the Kent Downs AONB. 

Expected outcomes (1) A secure and more independent Kent Downs AONB Partnership. 

(2) A Kent Downs AONB Partnership which is recognised as ‘The 

Champion’ for the AONB. 

(3) The delivery of a well-supported Kent Downs AONB Management 
Plan through partners and focussed Kent Downs AONB led projects. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives 

Objective #1 People  

 improve the local environment 

 create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive 

town centre 

Objective #2 Place  

 enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy 

 raise Gravesham’s economic profile 

 improve economic conditions 

 improve resident well-being 

 enhance the borough’s cultural offer 

GBC has a statutory duty placed upon it to act jointly, in partnership with 
other local authorities to prepare and review an AONB Management Plan 
under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  GBC also has a 
statutory ‘duty of regard’ placed on it towards the purposes of the AONB in 
all of its functions – the AONB Management Unit assists with this work in 
partnership with the other member local authorities. CROW act requires a 
Management Plan reviewed on a 5 year cycle. 

GBC Resources 

(financial, officer, assets etc.) 

Financial: annual contribution of £4,138 as a standstill budget to be 
reviewed annually.  This matches all other AONB Kent district local 
authorities and is around 1.3% of the AONB Management Unit’s £310,641 
core budget; 72% coming from DEFRA and 28% coming from Natural 
England. 

In April 2022, an email was received from the AONB unit raising concerns 
over future funding, because the EU funding, was has been a financial 
mainstay to implement the vision aims and principles of the AONB 
Management Plan, comes to an end in March 2023.  The email advises 
that this issue would be the main agenda item for the Joint Advisory 
Committee in June. 

Human Resources: 1 officer and 1 member attendance (twice yearly) at 
the AONB Joint Advisory Committee (JAC). – see 
https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-
committee/ . Required to comment on consultation documents and take 
forward to adoption as appropriate with GBC. 

Use of Buildings: the Kent Downs AONB Partnership does not require 
use of GBC offices for the JAC Meetings.  JAC Meetings are held within 
the AONB at various locations at no additional cost to GBC. 

Page 59

https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-committee/
https://www.kentdowns.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/joint-advisory-committee/


Gravesham Borough Council           - 4 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
Partnership membership Public: Natural England, English Heritage, Ashford Borough Council, 

Canterbury City Council, Dover District Council, Gravesham Borough 
Council, Kent County Council, London Borough of Bromley, Maidstone 
Borough Council, Medway Council, Sevenoaks District Council, Shepway 
District Council, Swale Borough Council, Tonbridge & Malling Borough 
Council, Kent Association of Local Councils, Environment Agency. 

Private: Country Land and Business Association, National Farmers Union, 
Visit Kent. 

Voluntary: Action with Communities in Rural Kent. 

Governance arrangements Terms of Reference: 

The Kent Downs AONB Partnership has a set of Terms of Reference 
agreed by the JAC covering: (1) Remit; (2) Membership; (3) Power to Co-
opt; (4) Voting Rights; (5) Election of Chairman; (6) Frequency of 
Meetings; (7) Secretariat; (8) Agenda. 

Constitution: 

The Kent Downs AONB Partnership constitutes: 

(1) JAC; (2) Executive Group; (3) AONB Forum; (4) Sub-committees;      
(5) AONB Management Unit. 

Memorandum of Understanding: 

A Memorandum of Understanding was signed by all partner local 
authorities and Natural England. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting 

Financial Reporting Time Frame: 

A report is prepared by the AONB Management Unit Director on the 
financial position which is presented as an item at each JAC meeting 
(twice yearly). 

Budget Monitoring/Management: 

The JAC agrees the annual budget and the priorities for the Kent Downs 
AONB.  Each partner may ask for further details should it wish. 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements. 

Performance Monitoring Arrangements: 

Regular reports are prepared and presented to the Kent Downs AONB 
Partnership JAC and Executive, which meet twice yearly and four times 
yearly respectively.  The Business Continuity Plan is reviewed annually 
and presented to the JAC and Executive.  A monitoring arrangement has 
been agreed nationally with Natural England. 

Review of Partnership Arrangements: 

In 2002, a review of staffing and governance was undertaken.  In 2008 
(following the review of the AONB Management Plan), a review of the 
Terms of Reference was undertaken.  The AONB Management Unit has 
commissioned an internal audit of its finances and management 
arrangements. 

Risk Assessment Risk Assessment: 

The Kent Downs AONB Management Unit has a Business Continuity Plan 
and a Risk Register which covers the risks of the Unit and, to some extent, 
the Partnership (available on request). 

Risk to Council: 

Failure to meet its statutory duties including the ‘duty of regard’ to the Kent 
Downs AONB. 

Mitigation: 

The Kent Downs AONB Partnership has been successful at meeting its 
aims and objectives; therefore it has not been necessary to take mitigation 
action. 

 

Page 60



Gravesham Borough Council           - 5 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
Safeguarding Obligations Through work with education sector and pupil engagement they will 

ensure that they maintain a safe and trusted environment for everyone 
who comes in to contact with them, including their staff and volunteers. 
They will follow the processes set out by KCC for their staff. 

Equalities Obligations The current version of the Management Plan 2021-2026 is accompanied 
by a equalities impact assessment part 1 screening assessment and this 
finds no negative impacts for 8 of the 9 protected characteristics and it 
considers that ‘marriage and civil partnerships’ is N/A. 

Climate Change 
Considerations 

The overall vision for the AONB remains unchanged. This revision seeks 
to respond to the changing context in which the 20 year vision operates – 
including the level of housing growth expected in Kent and climate, 
agriculture and biodiversity challenges and opportunities.  

This is because it is recognised that the Kent Downs are vulnerable to 
changes in the natural environment being generally a dry and free-draining 
landscape, and located in one of the driest parts of the country where 
predicted climate change will be most strongly felt. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet 

14 July 1997 Date Partnership 
Terminates 

(if applicable) 

N/A 

 

 Significant partnership  Other partnership 

 

Page 61



Gravesham Borough Council           - 6 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 
 

Name of Partnership  Kent & Medway Air Quality Partnership 

Responsible Officer Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services 

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership (Department for the Environment, Food and 

Rural Affairs (DEFRA) recognised good practice) 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership 

The major aims and objectives of the Partnership are: 

 Facilitate a co-ordinated approach through Kent and Medway for the 

Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) obligations placed on local 

authorities under the Environment Act 1995; 

 Compile, update and maintain an Emissions Inventory of air pollution 

sources in and around Kent, to assist with the LAQM process;   

 Comment on and influence the economic, planning and transport 

policies within the county so that air quality issues are properly 

considered and addressed; 

 Gain an understanding of the health implications associated with poor 

air quality and the threat it poses to the health of Kent and Medway’s 

communities; 

 To promote an awareness of air quality issues by working with national 

agencies, neighbouring authorities, and European partners and to 

participate in joint initiatives to further the knowledge and 

understanding of air quality issues; and   

 Liaise with DEFRA and Government bodies to assist with the 

implementation of the National Air Quality Strategy. 

Expected outcomes Continued partnership with all Local Authorities across Kent working 

closely with public health colleagues at Medway Council, Kent County 

Council and the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA – Previously Public 

Health England). 

The Partnership is working with Kent Public Health to deliver an 

Awareness raising campaign around the links between air quality and 

health. Material for a number of key groups, i.e. professionals/decision 

makers, business, the general public, children/parents is being developed. 

This has included a toolkit for schools linked to the national curriculum. It 

has been completed and is available for wider use. 

The Partnership has worked with Defra funding to produce social media 

messages launched on 25/04/22, the first day of the newly created Kent 

Air Week.  

Opportunities for reduced costs and efficiency gains through joint 

procurement –such as is currently in place for the Kent and Medway Air 

Quality Monitoring Network and Local Air Quality Management Reports 

(LAQM) 

Opportunities to participate in external funding bids. 

Dissemination of knowledge and good practice. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives 

Objective #1 People  

A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home. 

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council           - 7 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
GBC Resources 

(financial, officer, assets etc.) 

Six days per year.  

No financial implications of the Partnership itself; however Gravesham 

currently pays £5605 +VAT per annum as part of the jointly procured 

contract for the Kent and Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network. 

Gravesham assists the Partnership with match funding of Defra grant 

monies on an ad hoc basis within budget or from S106 Planning 

contributions made towards implementing the council’s AQ action Plan 

measures. .  

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent, Environment Agency, King’s College London, 

Health Authority, Highways Agency, Kent County Council, Kent Highways, 

KCC Public Health, UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) 

Governance arrangements The Kent & Medway Air Quality Partnership is an officer group reporting to 

the Kent Environmental Health Managers Group. As such only minimal 

governance arrangements are in place relating to terms of reference and 

frequency of meetings. Minutes are taken from the meetings and reported 

to all partners.  These are not published in the public domain as this has 

not been considered necessary in the past however they are available to 

the public on request.   

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting 

Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract awarded in 2021 

and financially monitored by Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. Previous 

to this Swale Council has been the procurement authority. 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements. 

An officer from Gravesham BC is included in the Kent and Medway Air 

Quality Monitoring Network Contract Group which monitors the contract 

and the performance of the contractor.  

The AQ Partnership will continue indefinitely.   

The Monitoring Network will continue as long as it is supported by 

members at the time of contract renewal.  At the current time all Kent 

authorities (except Dartford and Sevenoaks who are in the London 

network) are committed to a minimum of a three year data management 

contract for their monitoring stations.   

The aims and objectives are currently under review to ensure they include 

our public health responsibilities.  

Risk Assessment It is not a statutory duty to be a member of the Partnership however it is 

recognised by DEFRA as an example of good practice which assists in 

ensuring consistency across the county.  

It is however a statutory duty to have air quality monitoring data managed 

and collated and disseminated to the public.   

The Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract includes this 
for all members.  Dissemination to member, the public, developers and 
consultants is by the www.kentair.org.uk website.   

Safeguarding Obligations N/A  

Equalities Obligations The council’s Air Quality work benefits all however those living in socially 
deprived areas are more likely to benefit from improvements in air quality 
as they tend to be most affected and be near busy main roads.  

Climate Change 
Considerations 

The work of the Air Quality Partnership and the Climate Change work of 
the council are intrinsically linked and dependent on each other. They are 
both about the minimisation of emissions from vehicles, buildings etc.  

Page 63

http://www.kentair.org.uk/


Gravesham Borough Council           - 8 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet 

Partnership created in 1992 Date Partnership 
Terminates 

(if applicable) 

N/A 

 

 Significant partnership  Other partnership 

 

Page 64



Gravesham Borough Council           - 9 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 
 

Name of Partnership Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board 

Responsible Officer Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations) 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership 

To deliver the objectives of the Kent Waste Strategy:  

1. Maximising the Value of Resources 

a. To recycle at least 50% across Kent by 2022/23. 

b. To reduce residual waste collected across Kent. 

c. No more than 2% of Kent’s waste to go to landfill. 

d. Joint approach to use of third sector & charities /to deliver 

reuse of bulky waste. 

e. Explore the possibility of implementing recycling on the go. 

2. Value for Money for Kent Taxpayers 

a. Develop a joint approach to tackle litter and fly tipping.  

Working with appropriate partners such as Highways England. 

b. Sharing resources and providing joint communication 

campaigns for recycling, littering and fly tipping. 

c. Joint working to deliver first class health & safety standards 

across the county. 

3. Engagement, Collaboration and Partnership Working 

a. Maximise engagement with national and local government and 

those operating across the supply chain. 

b. Produce an annual report that reflects the focus and priorities 

of the previous year. 

c. The partnership’s strategy to be fully reviewed in 2022/23. 

4. Future Thinking 

a. Aligning with key policies such as EU circular economy 

package, environment plan and imminent resource and waste 

strategy. 

b. Developing other metrics and means to focus on quality and 

value of resources. 

c. Consider requirements to secure infrastructure to enhance 

and develop the local resource management and waste 

facilities. 

Look at the development of a consistent collection specification across all 
councils. 

Expected outcomes The expected outcomes of the partnership are: 

 To strengthen co-operation and joint-working across the councils in 

the partnership; and 

 An increased awareness across the county of waste and recycling 
service including waste minimisation. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives 

Objective #1 People Progress 

A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home. 

Page 65



Gravesham Borough Council           - 10 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
GBC Resources 

(financial, officer, assets etc.) 

 A budget of £288,250 is available for the Kent Resource Partnership in 

2022/23.  Gravesham Borough Council contributes £15,000 per year 

towards this overall budget. 

 Officer and Member time from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder(s) and 
Director or Assistant Director. 

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent 

Governance arrangements The Kent Resource Partnership has an Operating Framework in place.  
The framework sets out the governance arrangements for the partnership 
as a whole including (but not limited to): 

 Setting the scope of works for the partnership around three key areas; 

waste collection and waste disposal functions, street cleansing 

functions and environmental enforcement functions; 

 Setting out the strategic structure within which the Kent Resource 

partnership operates; 

 Providing details of the specific governance of the Members’ Board; 

frequency of meetings, agenda arrangements, quorum details, chair 

and vice-chair selection, decision making process etc.; 

 Providing details of the Officers’ Advisory Group and the Operational 

Review & Improvement Group in a similar fashion to the Members’ 

Board above; and 

 Details of the resources available to the partnership along with the 

expected contribution from partner organisations. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting 

The Kent Resource Partnership agrees a Budget Plan and a Delivery Plan 
on an annual basis. 

Kent Resource Partnership Members’ Board is provided with financial 
updates three times a year when it meets. 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements. 

The Partnership is reviewed annually and performance information is 
reported every quarter. 

Risk Assessment -- 

Safeguarding Obligations N/A 

 

Equalities Obligations The Partnership works with the community to ensure that all services 
across Kent are inclusive and accessible for all. 

Climate Change 
Considerations 

Within the Kent Resource Partnership there are actions to increase 
recycling and work on carbon reduction initiatives whether that be 
alternate fuelled vehicles or reduced transportation of waste across the 
County or Country. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet 

12 March 2007 Date Partnership 
Terminates 

(if applicable) 

N/A 

 

 Significant partnership  Other partnership 

 
 

Page 66



Gravesham Borough Council           - 11 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 
 

Name of Partnership Licensing Shared Service 

Responsible Officer Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager (Property and Regulatory Services) 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton Lead Member for Operational Services 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership. 

Both councils have a statutory duty in terms of the Licensing function and 
as such, both partner authorities will retain their decision-making powers 
relating to licensing matters through the existing committees, Cabinet and 
full Council just as they do currently.  It is only the day-to-day 
administration and enforcement work of the Licensing teams that will be 
shared. 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership 

The aims and objectives of this arrangement are as follows: 

 Added resilience across the two authorities.  There will be a larger 
pool of officers covering both authorities providing additional resilience 
to cover sickness absence/vacancies or increased workload should 
this be required. 

 Availability of specialist skills across both authorities leading to 
increased efficiency. 

 Sharing of best practice in the delivery of Licensing Services.  

 Potential for the expansion of knowledge base of individual officers 

through greater training and learning opportunities. 

Expected outcomes The key aim of the partnership is to provide a high quality, value for money 
service that continues to meet the need of the customer (both internal and 
external) in terms of Licensing Services 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives 

Objective #1 People  

A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home. 

Objective #2 – Place 

A dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community. 

Objective #3 Progress 

An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and 
strong governance environment.  

GBC Resources 

(financial, officer, assets etc.) 

The Licensing Shared Service is hosted by Gravesham Borough Council, 
with office accommodation provided at both sites.  The Medway Council 
staff were TUPE transferred to GBC on 01 January 2019.  

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council 

Governance arrangements A legal agreement is in place for the Licensing Shared Service which sets 
out: 

 The agreed TUPE transfer  for the officers involved including details of 
the services that are to be provided under the terms of the agreement; 

 How service costs are to be calculated and shared between the two 
partners; 

 The responsibilities of each partner in relation to management of the 
shared service; 

 Arrangements for maintaining confidentiality of information held by 
each partner; and 

 Arrangements for the resolution of conflicts/disputes and the 
termination of the arrangement. 

Page 67



Gravesham Borough Council           - 12 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 This agreement is backed up by regular meetings between the 

Responsible Officers of the two authorities to respond to demand and 
where necessary adjust the level of support required. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting 

 
 

The Licensing Shared Service legal agreement sets out the financial 
arrangements in Schedule 3 of the formal agreement 

Medway contribute 75% to the overall costs of the shared service, with 
GBC covering the other 25%.   

Central support costs/recharges (e.g. Finance, HR) do not from part of the 
shared service contribution mechanism and are accounted for at their 
individual authorities. 

All income for Medway licences received by Gravesham is transferred to 
Medway in full, quarterly.  Income for Gravesham licences is retained by 
Gravesham 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements. 

As detailed above, there are regular meetings between the responsible 
officers at GBC and Medway Council in order to monitor the overall 
performance of the arrangement set out within this register. 

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at 
this time and are detailed within the business case.  It should be noted 
however that risks will be reviewed regularly throughout the 
implementation of this arrangement to ensure they are identified and, 
where required, managed/mitigated as necessary. 

Safeguarding Obligations There are no specific safeguarding obligations as part of this shared 
service. However the various licensing regimes administered and enforced 
by the Licensing Team have objectives around the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults. 

Equalities Obligations In terms of customers, all applicants and applications are treated 
consistently by determining each on its merits and in accordance with 
legislation and policy.   

The council’s digital/online offering provides an enhanced level of 
accessibility for applicants and licence holders. 

The council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy seeks to 
improve access to, and the quality of, its taxi and private hire services 
through such means as disability awareness training requirements, and 
provisions which seek to ensure an appropriate balance of wheelchair 
accessible vehicles. 

In terms of staffing, and as an employer, such matters as the restructured 
service, agile working arrangements, provision of IT equipment, access to 
training, open door policies, etc. seek to provide equality of opportunity in 
all aspects of recruitment, work conditions and the working environment. 

Climate Change 
Considerations 

The primary remit of the local authorities in discharging their licensing 
duties relate to the processing of applications and interventions for non-
compliance with legislation and policy.  There is limited scope therefore for 
the shared service to contribute to GBC’s overall Climate Change 
ambitions.  Both councils are however able to take, and have recently 
taken, positive steps to demonstrate their commitments to Climate Change 
through their respective Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policies by way of emission and age requirements. 

In the wider sense, the Shared Licensing Service is a lead department in 
terms of its online/digital offering.  This in turn helps to reduce 
environmental impacts arising from printing/postage/unnecessary use of 
vehicles for visits by staff and drivers, etc. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet 

01 January 2019 Date Partnership 
Terminates 

(if applicable) 

N/A 

 
 

Page 68



Gravesham Borough Council           - 13 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 
 
 

Glossary of Terms 

To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register. 
 

Term Used Meaning 

Business Continuity 
Plan 

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events. 

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership. 

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives. 

Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 
2000 

The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'. 

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues. 

Joint Committee A committee made up of representatives from all partners involved in an 
arrangement.  

Local Air Quality 
Management (LAQM) 

The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review 
and assess air quality in their areas. 

Management Plan A management plan is a document that outlines how a management team will direct 
resources to achieve objectives 

Memorandum of 
Understanding 
(MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement. 

National Air Quality 
Strategy 

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects. 

Natural England Natural England is an executive non-departmental public body, sponsored by the 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs.  Their role is to advise the 
government on the natural environment in England. 

Operating 
Framework 

A guide to a company's/organisation’s policies, goals, standards, procedures and 
training. 

Partnership The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or 
more independent bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate 
objectives”. 

Risk Register A risk register is a table of project risks that allows you to track each identified risk 
and any vital information about it. 

Page 69



Gravesham Borough Council           - 14 - 
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements 
– July 2022 
 

Term Used Meaning 

Shared Service 
Agreement 

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service. 

Shared Working 
Arrangement 

Arrangements put in place to jointly deliver services across on or ore local 
authorities. 

Significant 
Partnership 

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within 
the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This 
will also include those partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or 
statutory requirements on behalf of the council. 

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders. 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations – the United 
Kingdom's implementation of the European Union Business Transfers Directive, 
protecting employees whose business is being transferred to another business. 

 
 

Page 70

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Business_Transfers_Directive


 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Operational Services Committee 

Date: 24 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 
Mark Lees - Regulatory Services Manager 
 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2022-23 (July to September 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 
policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

Page 71 Agenda Item 9



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate 
Plan for Quarter Two 2022-23, covering the period July to September 2022.  

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Operational Services Portfolio – Q2 2022-23 
 

4. Background papers 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

 Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations) 

Email:  stuart.alford@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 72

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 
achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

 

Page 73

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  2  -  2  3

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 75



P I  3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 11 3 4 5

2020-21 6 6 4 12

2021-22 8 4 6 1

2022-23 1 2

P I  4

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8%

2020-21 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

2021-22 83.2% 91.1% 93.7% 91.8%

2022-23 93.6% 95.1%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring 
commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative 
standards.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

% of compliant food establishments

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): 
Thanks to the focussed hard work of the team and assistance from an external contractor temporarily brought 
in to cover a vacancy, nearly half of the scheduled medium and high-risk premises inspections have now been 
completed, in addition to all overdue inspections from 20-21 (carried forwards from the pandemic).

Whilst the overall percentage of compliant food businesses has increased slightly this quarter, this is mainly 
due to the previously unrated new premises inspections being carried out.  If anything, officers are finding that 
standards have deteriorated in established food businesses in relation to such matters as general cleanliness, 
poor temperature control and poor stock control.  It is believed that businesses are cuttings corners at a cost 
to food safety due to financial pressures.

As a result, in Q2 a further 5 health and safety improvement notices (in relation to a water damaged ceiling 
possibly exposing staff to asbestos, and on a local restaurant following an accident where a child was badly 
scalded by boiling water from a teapot) and 1 hygiene improvement notice were served, as well as 1 voluntary 
closure on an open food room for an infestation of sewage flies.
 
The team have also been involved with an appeal to the crown court by a food business against the 
conviction and fine issued by Magistrates following service of Covid Regulations fixed penalty notice during 
the pandemic (Nov 2020) for trading out of hours. The judge remarked that he found the witnesses for the 
council to be honest and credible, and accepted their evidence. In contrast, the appellants evidence was not 
credible and was rejected. He was found guilty, his appeal dismissed, and he was ordered to pay a further 
£480 costs on top of the original fine which amounted to over £4000.

In other areas of work, we have had a flurry of applications for skin piercing registrations for new businesses; 
anyone undertaking certain skin piercing treatments are required to register with the local authority under 
Byelaws adopted under the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982. These treatments include 
Tattooing, Semi-permanent make-up, Cosmetic Piercing, Acupuncture and Electrolysis.

Finally on a positive note, a talk on food hygiene and the role of the EHO was recently given to the local sugar 
craft guild which received very positive feedback.

Licensing: 

Inspection of our licenced vehicles by Rosherville Servicing Ltd at the Brookvale workshop commenced as 
scheduled on 1st September and has gone very smoothly so far.  The team have been advertising the vacant 
Licensing Assistant and Licensing Apprentices posts and hope to fill these in early Q3, which will free up 
officer time to undertake additional compliance and enforcement work which has so far not been as proactive 
as we would have liked it to have been.

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 76



P I  5

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0%

2020-21 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

2021-22 97.7% 98.2% 99.0% 99.6%

2022-23 98.7% 96.8%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 
household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in 
the borough.

During Q2, the number of service requests received by the Environmental Protection (EP) Team, largely 
relating to nuisance complaints, remained very high at 342, whilst the Commercial Team also handled a 
further 68 in addition to carrying out their routine food safety and H&S work. The work of both teams is 
currently being supported by external contractors temporarily filling vacancies in both teams.

The presence of a large unauthorised encampment (UE) placed a significant additional burden on the EP 
Team in Q2, but officers’ hard work in ensured it was dealt with in each of its 3 concurrent locations as quickly 
as possible.  In addition, the team moved on a smaller single-family UE from Parrock Street carpark, and then 
Milton Road Carpark. 
In addition to the UE-related enforcement action, the EP Team served Community Protection Warnings on 
eight properties/premises for a range of issues including noise from machinery, domestic noise nuisance, 
smoke nuisance, waste accumulations, and aggressive dogs; none have yet escalated to the next stage i.e. a 
Community Protection Notice, which indicates they are useful tool in resolving matters that impact on the 
residents of the borough.

The stray dog service has received a gold Pawprints award from the RSPCA for the 10th year in a row, and 
the team took part in two events this quarter being a Microchipping Event on 20th July at the Civic Centre and 
an Antisocial Behaviour Event in Woodlands Park on Saturday 23rd July.

The Environmental Protection Team is also a key consultee on relevant planning and licensing applications.  
Bespoke automated processes designed and built in-house ensure that all such consultations are now 
automatically logged on the Environmental Health systems to make processing and responding to them more 
consistent and streamlined which, in turn, will assist Planners and Licensing Officers to progress their 
casework in a timely manner.   The handling of such applications is however a very time-consuming take and 
further progress is therefore needed in these areas in order for the small environmental health teams to be 
able to continue to handle their sustained significant workloads.

In Q2, EP officers were consulted on a further 50 planning applications and Commercial on just 3, with 86% 
receiving a response within 21 days.  The EP Team were also consulted on 35 Temporary Event Notices and 
responded within the 3-day consultation period in all but one case.  

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 
working days 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 77



P I  9

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6

2020-21 125.1 240.0 353.0 477.0

2021-22 124.4 243.5 374.5 487.9

2022-23 120.7 237.6

P I  8 P I   10

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 44.3% 44.2% 43.0% 42.6% 2019-20 1.9%

2020-21 45.7% 45.3% 44.5% 43.6% 2020-21 1.4%

2021-22 44.3% 44.8% 43.3% 42.4% 2021-22 1.8%

2022-23 44.1% 42.5% 2022-23

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household 
recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

Annual indicator 

% of household waste recycled

Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

% of household waste sent to landfill

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 
In the period July to September 2022, 100% of households received their scheduled refuse & recycling 
collection.

Since the beginning of the excess refuse campaign, there has been a 93% reduction in the number of 
instances of excess black sack waste presented by residents.  There has been a 3.2% reduction in 
refuse tonnage in June & July 2022 compared to June & July 2021.

In the 9-months since the start of our recycling contamination campaign, the rejected recycling tonnage 
reduced by 14.2%, or 110.9 tonnes, compared to the 9-months leading up to the commencement of the 
campaign.  A simple, pictorial leaflet has also been produced for delivery to blocks of flats and 
properties in areas where recycling contamination is high.

The street litter recycling project, comprising of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins & Street Champion 
segregated litter, has yielded 6.6 tonnes of recycling to date.  Additional recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins will 
be installed at have now been installed at Parrock Street car park.

The phased approach to the introduction and enhancement of recycling provision at flats has continued 
to be implemented.  In the 13 months since August 2021, 542 more flats in the borough have dry mixed 
recycling collections and 663 more flats have food waste recycling collections. Overall, 13 months into 
project 56.3% of flats now have recycling collections.

We have also delivered educational recycling leaflets to 1,002 flats in the borough (15.7% of total 
Council & private flats).

A new waste services guide has also been developed for distribution to new build properties as part of 
the bin delivery process.  

40%

42%

44%

46%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0

200

400

600

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 78



P I  11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 2.0 2.1

2020-21 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

2021-22 2.6 2.7 2.4 2.2

2022-23 1.9 1.9

P I  12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020-21 N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

2021-22 5.6% 5.3% 5.2% 5.0%

2022-23 4.4% 3.8%

#1 PEOPLE 

Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)
4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 
comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

N/A

The Street Cleansing Team successfully bid for a grant of £11,631 to employ additional temporary 
staff to clear historic gum litter stains at 22 shopping parades and five locations within Gravesend 
town centre, leaving the council’s specialised deep cleansing team free to keep those and other 
areas gum-free.

To date, eight locations have been deep cleaned and signage has been erected to encourage 
people to dispose of gum responsibly.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer continues to attend regular briefing meetings with the 
Environmental Enforcement Team, Community Safety Unit and Housing Team to foster greater 
departmental collaboration. The meetings enable the respective teams to discuss ‘hot spot’ areas 
and enable joint project areas to be identified and targeted jointly. 

The alleyway project is underway with work starting on the Phase 1 list.  So far, alleyways have 
been cleared in Westcourt, Northfleet North and Riverside wards.  An additional four alleyways on 
the Phase 1 project list have been weed sprayed prior to the commencement of works, including 
in Woodlands and Singlewell Wards.   The alleyway behind Haynes Road has been cleared to 
allow vehicular access and a gate installed to stop unauthorised access.

The Street Champions continue to demonstrate the level of civic pride across the borough and are 
a testament to all those who take pride in their local area.  Currently, there are 468 volunteers who 
have pledged to adopt 314 streets, pathways, alleyways and open spaces.

Since 1st April 2022 Gravesham’s Street Champions collected 2,008 sacks of litter during 1,191 
litter picks.  

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean
 and attractive borough their home.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

% of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

0

1

2

3

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 79



P I   39

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100%

2020-21 100%

2021-22 100%

2022-23

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and 
promote opportunities for active lives.
Quarter 2 saw the successful delivery of two improved play areas within the Borough.

The ambitious new improved play park at Rosherville Recreation Park was delivered in keeping 
with the theme of the historic pleasure gardens and a large community event welcomed visitors to 
the site. Outdoor gym equipment has also been installed, along with a community herb planter 
and an improved planting scheme.

A new and improved play park was also delivered at Istead Rise where we worked closely with the 
community on the plans for the park.

% of council play sites annually inspected

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

40%

60%

80%

100%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 80


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Street Cleansing Policy
	Street Cleansing Policy

	6 Contaminated Land Strategy Review Report
	Appendix 1 - Draft GBC Contaminated Land Strategy 2022

	7 Alley Clearance Project Update
	Appendix 1 - Alley Project

	8 Corporate Register of Partnerships - Operational Services
	2. Operational Committee - Register of Partnerships - July 2022

	9 Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1)
	Q2 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (APPENDIX 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22










